Adapting a Culturally Grounded Diabetes Prevention Program

to a Family Diabetes Prevention Program

by

Monica Diaz

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

Approved October 2023 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Gabriel Q. Shaibi, Chair Meg Bruening Christina Shepard

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

May 2024

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The incidence of type 2 diabetes (T2D) in youth is projected to increase through 2060, especially in minority youth. Every Little Step Counts (ELSC) has demonstrated efficacy in reducing T2D risk factors in Latino youth. Documenting the adaptation of ELSC to a family diabetes prevention program (FDPP) could support future adaptation and scaling of FDPPs.

Purpose: To describe the process that guided the adaptation of a culturally grounded evidenced-based DPP tailored to Latino families, with the aim of using the Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications-Enhanced (FRAME) to classify adaptations.

Methods/Design: The approach that guided the adaptation involved communitybased participatory research (CBPR) and phases commonly used to adapt health interventions. Inductive and deductive content analysis guided by the FRAME was conducted on data collected throughout the phases to identify and classify adaptations. Data was then triangulated with the entities involved in the adaptation, analyzed to determine the frequency and proportion of adaptations across the FRAME categories and levels, and cross tabulated.

Results: A total of N=66 adaptations were identified. Adaptations occurred with the highest frequency during the grant preparation and after the pilot study. Most adaptations were led by both the academic institution and community partners. Content modifications were most common. Prominent reasons for adaptation included organization/setting time constraints and integrating community partners' and interventionists' feedback.

i

Discussion: Study results align with the CBPR approach that guided the adaptation and the ELSC core tenet of integrating community partnerships throughout all aspects of the intervention. To efficiently track adaptations, consensus as to what constitutes varying levels of adaptation granularity (i.e., macro, meso, micro) is needed. While tracking adaptations can be time and resource intensive, tracking adaptations may support the development of strategies to tie adaptations to outcomes.

Conclusion: It is critical to determine when adaptations are needed to avoid a "culture of adaptation hyperactivity". There is an opportunity to analyze past and future ELSC adaptations to better understand the intervention's core tenets and the relationship between adaptations and outcomes. Future ELSC adaptations would benefit from considering how to incorporate feedback from diverse stakeholders and populations in preparation for scaling.

	Page
LIST OF	F TABLES viii
LIST OF	F FIGURESix
СНАРТ	ER
1	INTRODUCTION1
	Purpose of Study4
	Research Aim4
	Definiton of Terms4
2	LITERATURE REVIEW6
	Overview of Diabetes and Prediabetes in the Latino Population
	Diabetes Prevention Programs6
	The Diabetes Prevention Program Research Study6
	The National Diabetes Prevention Program8
	Adaptations to Diabetes Prevention Programs9
	Every Little Step Counts Program12
	Understanding Every Little Step Counts18
	Theoretical Background18
	Core Tenets and Functions
	Strategies and Frameworks for Adapting Interventions
	A Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications to Interventions22
	When and How the Modification Was Made
	Was the Modification Planned/Proactive or Unplanned/Reactive23

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

3

Who Decided to Modify or Adapt	23
What Was Modified	23
Type of Content Modification	23
At What Level of Delivery Was the Modification Made	23
Modifications Relationship to the Original Intervention's Fidelity	24
Reason for the Modification	24
Cultural Adaptations	26
Familism	26
Family-Based Interventions in Obesity and Diabetes Prevention	27
Cohesion	27
Resilience	28
Engagement	28
Empowerment	29
METHODS	31
Phases and Processes Guiding Adaptation	31
Overview	31
A Community-Based Participatory Research Approach	34
Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I (During Grant Preparation)	36
Literature Review	36
A Model to Guide the Adaptation	37
Adapting the Curriculum Structure	37
Interviewing the Community	40
	Who Decided to Modify or Adapt What Was Modified Type of Content Modification At What Level of Delivery Was the Modification Made Modifications Relationship to the Original Intervention's Fidelity Reason for the Modification Cultural Adaptations Family-Based Interventions in Obesity and Diabetes Prevention. Cohesion Resilience Engagement Empowerment METHODS Phases and Processes Guiding Adaptation Overview A Community-Based Participatory Research Approach Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I (During Grant Preparation) Literature Review A Model to Guide the Adaptation Adapting the Curriculum Structure Interviewing the Community

Page

CHAPTER

4

Recruitment Strategy40
Protocol40
Data Collection and Analysis40
Deciding What Needs Adaptation: II (After Community Interviews)41
Adapting the Curriculum: I42
FDPP Pilot Study43
Study Participants43
Recruitment Strategy44
Protocol44
Data Collection45
Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III (After the Pilot Study)45
Adapting the Curriculum: II46
Staff Training
Data Analysis for Adaptation Process46
Content Analysis (Adaptation Coding)46
FRAME Coding System
Defining Adaptations47
Data Triangulation47
Quantitative Analysis
RESULTS
Changes to the FRAME Coding System
FRAME Frequencies and Proportions

Page

CHAP	PTER	Page
	During What Phase was the Adaptation Decided Upon?	50
	Who Led the Adaptation?	51
	What was Modified?	51
	At what Level of Delivery?	51
	Type of Contextual Modification?	52
	What is the Nature of the Content Modification?	52
	What was the Goal?	52
	Reason	52
	Cross-tabulation of FRAME Levels and Categories	55
	Adaptation Occurrence by Entity and Phase	55
	Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What is mo	dified?).55
	Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Level of De	elivery?).56
	Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Nature of C	Content)56
	Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What was the	ne Goal?)57
	Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Reason)	57
5	5 DISCUSSION	65
6	5 CONCLUSION	73
REFE	RENCES	74
APPE	NDIX	
А	FAMILY INTERVIEWS IRB APPROVAL	83
В	FDPP PILOT STUDY IRB APPROVAL	86
С	INTERVIEW GUIDE-SPANISH QUESTIONS	

APPE	ENDIX	Page
D	INTERVIEW GUIDE-ENGLISH QUESTIONS	94
E	SPANISH HOME VISIT PARTICIPANTS SURVEY	
F	ENGLISH HOME VISIT PARTICIPANTS SURVEY	
G	FACILITATOR EVALUATION FORM-HOME VISIT	
Н	OBSERVER EVALUATION FORM-HOME VISIT	
Ι	SPANISH POST CLASS PARTICIPANT SURVEY	114
J	ENGLISH POST CLASS PARTICIPANT SURVEY	117
K	FACILITATOR CLASS EVALUATION FORM	
L	OBSERVER CLASS EVALUATION FORM	
М	SPANISH FOCUS GROUP GUIDE	
Ν	ENGLISH FOCUS GROUP GUIDE	

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	ELSC Core Tenets and Functions	19
2.	ELSC Community and Institutional Partners	34
3.	Unifying Family Processes	37
4.	Phase Where Adaptation Was Decided Upon (FRAME Classification)	51
5.	Entity Who Led the Adaptation (FRAME Classification)	51
6.	FRAME Classification of the 66 Adaptations	54

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1.	Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications-Enhanced25
2.	Phases and Processes Guiding Adaptation
3.	Family Diabetes Prevention Model
4.	FRAME Coding Structure for Adaptations to the FDPP53
5.	Adaptation Occurrence by Entity and Phase
6.	Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What is modified?)59
7.	Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Level of Delivery)60
8.	Who Led Adaptaiton by Phase and Classification (Nature of Content Mod?)61
9.	Who Led Adaptaiton by Phase and Classification (What was the goal?)62
10.	Who Led Adaptaiton by Phase and Classification (Reason)63
11.	Who Led Adaptaiton by Phase and Classification (Reason) Continued64

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in youth is projected to increase by 673% through 2060, especially in minority youth.¹ According to the Center for Disease Control's National Diabetes Statistics Report², 38% of the United States (US) population over the age of 18 has prediabetes and 11.3% has been diagnosed with diabetes. During the last few years, 18% of the US adolescent population has been diagnosed with prediabetes.³ The onset of T2DM in Latino youth is increasing in prevalence⁴, and compared to non-Hispanic whites, Hispanic adults have a higher incidence of T2DM.²

An intensive lifestyle intervention including weight reduction and physical activity is the cornerstone for preventing T2DM in high-risk adults.⁵ This is based upon findings from the Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group (DPP Research Group), which demonstrated that intensive lifestyle interventions reduced the risk of T2DM by 58% in adults with prediabetes.⁵ To implement the lifestyle intervention on a larger scale, the National Diabetes Prevention Program (NDPP) was established through the CDC as a strategy to scale the lifestyle intervention.⁶ While the results from DPP Research Group demonstrated that the lifestyle intervention was effective in achieving weight loss and reducing the incidence of T2DM, the effectiveness of the NDPP with ethnic and racial minority populations has been lower, often leading to higher dropout rates.⁷

Since the findings from the DPP, multiple adaptations of the program have been created to fit the needs of adults from culturally diverse populations.⁸ Adaptations of the DPP have included modifications to the delivery strategy⁹, culture⁹, population and

setting.¹⁰ Adaptations of the DPP for Latinos have focused on either adults or youth at high-risk of developing T2DM^{8,10–14}; with adaptations occurring to the method of delivery (e.g., digital),⁹ or to better meet the needs of a culture¹¹ and/or socioeconomic status¹⁰ of the population.

Family-based interventions are considered the gold standard in obesity prevention and treatment in youth.¹⁵ *Familismo* (familism) is a cultural construct that has been integrated into health promotion programs for Latino families¹⁶ and is an important piece to consider when designing family-based interventions for the Latino population.

While diabetes prevention programs have focused on youth and adults^{5,8,10,12,14}, because T2DM is often seen in members of the same family¹⁷, interventions focused on the family unit could be more impactful. Diabetes prevention efforts that focus on the family are limited, however, studies have found that there is a strong willingness in families to participate in DPPs¹⁸ and that they can be impactful in promoting psychosocial health and communication in families.¹²

Every Little Step Counts (ELSC), a culturally grounded, community-based diabetes prevention program, has demonstrated feasibility, acceptability, and efficacy in reducing risk factors for the development of T2DM and improving weight-specific quality of life (QoL) in Latino youth.^{12–14,19} A team of researchers, clinicians, and community partners have collaborated in numerous adaptations of the ELSC to better understand and meet the needs of the local Latino population and context.^{12–14,19} In 2015, ELSC was adapted to ¡Viva Maryvale!, a 12-week family focused DPP.¹² This study demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of the culturally grounded DPP for Latino families with children between the ages of 8-12.¹² Until 2015, each adaptation of the

ELSC had prioritized the health of Latino children and/or adolescents.^{12–14,19} While families have been encouraged to participate in ELSC, the evaluation of outcomes has been primarily on Latino adolescents.^{12–14,19} The most recent adaptation for an efficacy trial of the ELSC, was tailored to Latino adolescents between the ages of 12-16 with obesity and prediabetes.¹⁴ Upon completion of this trial, the team of researchers and community partners identified the opportunity to further leverage familial and cultural factors, to focus on the health of the family system and assess outcomes in the family unit.

The ELSC was selected by the team of researchers and community partners as the intervention to be adapted for Latino families due to intervention's core tenets and functions aligning with the current needs of the local Latino community, its long history with proven efficacy, and the extensive collaborative infrastructure that has been built to support the intervention. The adapted ELSC intervention, from here on referred to as the Family Diabetes Prevention Program (FDPP), will be implemented as part of a randomized control trial that will assess the intervention's efficacy among Latino families at high risk of developing T2DM.

Documenting the adaptation process of a DPP for Latino youth to the family system could help identify strategies to adapt family-based diabetes prevention programming and support the replication and scaling of adapted FDPPs. Multiple adaptation frameworks have been created to guide adaptations of evidence-based interventions²⁰, however, the efficacy adapted interventions on participant and intervention outcomes are limited.²⁰

3

Purpose of Study

To describe the process that guided the adaptation of a culturally grounded evidencedbased diabetes prevention program tailored to Latino families.

Research Aim

To use the Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications-Enhanced to describe the adaptation of a family-based diabetes prevention program.

Definition of Terms

- Latino (a): A person who is of Mexican or any other Latin American origin.
- Prediabetes: Blood sugar levels that are higher than normal, but not high enough to be considered T2DM.
- HbA1c: Average blood sugar levels during the last three months.
- Familism: A cultural value that emphasizes strong interpersonal relationships within the family system.
- Family Diabetes Prevention Model: A novel conceptual model to guide familyfocused diabetes prevention, anchored by processes (engagement, cohesion, resilience, and empowerment) that unify families as a health-oriented system to enhance skills focused on increasing health behaviors to support improved health outcomes.
- Unifying Family Processes: The Unifying Family Processes consist of the key family processes: engagement, cohesion, resilience, and empowerment; found to be critical in improving health outcomes and behaviors in family-based interventions.

4

- Engagement: Interacting as a family, with other families, health educators, and the environment to take actions to improve the health of the family system.
- Cohesion: Strengthening bonds within families by decreasing conflict and prioritizing the health of the family system around a shared purpose and health goal.
- Resilience: Leveraging strengths, relationships, cultural values, and assets to respond to the pathogenic forces underpinning T2DM so that the family can flourish as a healthy system.
- Empowerment: Acquiring knowledge, skills, and capacity to identify and utilize resources to improve health and reduce diabetes risk.
- Family Unit: All family members residing in the same household (e.g., mother, father, son, daughter, cousin, grandma, grandpa, etc.).
- Adaptation Process: The phases and process that guided the adaptation from the ELSC to the FDPP.
- Phase: A phase (step) in the phases and processes that guided the adaptation (e.g., Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I, Interviewing the Community, Pilot Study, etc.).
- Adaptation/Modification: Used interchangeably and refers to any modifications or changes made to the intervention content, context, training, evaluation, and implementation/scale-up activities.
- Core Tenets and Functions: Key values and functions of the ELSC intervention
- Fidelity: The degree to which an intervention (particularly its core elements or functions) is delivered as intended.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview of Diabetes and Prediabetes in the Latino Population

According to the National Diabetes Statistics Report approximately 38% of the US population (96 million people) over the age of 18 have prediabetes² and 37.3 million have either diagnosed or undiagnosed diabetes.² Between 2005 and 2016 the prevalence of prediabetes in adolescents was 1 of 5, which translates to 18% of the adolescent population.² A US study projecting the prevalence of T2DM in those <20 years of age, projects that the number of youths with T2DM will increase from 48,000 in 2017 to 220,000 in 2060, a 69% increase.¹ If the increases in incidence continue, it is projected that the number of youths with T2DM will increase to 220,000, a 673% increase.¹ The onset of T2DM in Latino youth is increasing in prevalence⁴, and compared to non-Hispanic whites, Hispanic adults have higher incidence of T2DM.² Previous studies have also found Latino youth to have more insulin resistance and obesity compared to other pediatric populations, both of which are risk factors for the development of T2DM.^{21,22}

Diabetes Prevention Programs

The Diabetes Prevention Program Research Study. Lifestyle intervention can prevent or delay the onset of T2DM among adults with prediabetes.⁵ In a study conducted by the Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group⁵, participants with elevated fasting and post-load plasma glucose levels were assigned to either a placebo, metformin, or a diabetes prevention program intensive lifestyle intervention (DPP). Participants in the DPP were given the goal of 7% weight loss and at least 150 minutes of physical activity per week⁵. The participants in the study were followed for 2.8 years after the intervention. Those in the metformin group reduced their incidence of diabetes by 31% and those in the DPP reduced their incidence of diabetes by 58%.⁵ The DPP was found to be more effective at reducing the risk of diabetes compared to Metformin.

The DPP intensive lifestyle intervention was created by a committee consisting of nutritionists, behavioral psychologists, exercise physiologists, and nurses.²³ The intervention included clear weight loss and physical activity goals (i.e., 7% of initial body weight, 150 minutes)²³. While the content was delivered through a standardized curriculum, individuals were permitted to individualize their goals to work towards the overarching weight loss and physical activity goals²³. Each participant was assigned a lifestyle coach (often a registered dietitian) who delivered the core and maintenance curriculum, motivated participants, and ensured all data was collected.²³ The first phase of the DPP was referred to as the "core phase" and included a 16-session core curriculum consisting of nutrition, physical activity, and self-management that lasted 30-60 minutes²³. During the core phase, the DPP used an individual approach to treatment vs a group approach to individualize the intervention to diverse populations and participants with low literacy 23 . The 16 core sessions included a manual of operations for the lifestyle coaches, along with: participant weigh-ins; a review of participant records used for selfmonitoring weight loss, calories, and physical activity minutes; strategies for problemsolving barriers to goals; the introduction of a new topic; and the development of new goals²³. After the "core phase", the program transitioned to a flexible adherence/maintenance phase, where a session was delivered a minimum of once every two months²³. During this phase, sessions were offered individually or in groups and

lasted 15 to 45 minutes. The sessions focused on self-monitoring and topics of most interest/concern to participants. Participants continued to weigh-in and track their calories, weight, and physical activity. The DPP also included voluntary supervised exercise sessions delivered twice a week; activities included group walks, community aerobic classes, and 1:1 personal training.²³ Since participants often experienced barriers to implementing lifestyle behaviors, Lifestyle Coaches assisted participants in problem solving strategies to barriers²³. Each participant had the opportunity to select a "toolbox" strategy to support their adherence. Toolbox items included cookbooks, food vouchers, Slim-Fast or frozen food; \$100 were allotted for each participant to spend on the toolbox strategies²³. The DPP materials and strategies were also tailored to address ethnic diversity²³. Lifestyle coaches were often the same ethnicity as the participants, and the curriculum was available in English and Spanish²³. Foods and cooking methods noted in the curriculum were also tailored to diverse ethnicities²³. The DPP consisted of local and national networks offering support to all organizations delivering the lifestyle intervention.²³

The National Diabetes Prevention Program. In 2010, the National Diabetes Prevention Program (NDPP) was started as an initiative led by Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to scale the implementation of diabetes prevention programming to address the nation's increasing rates of prediabetes and diabetes.⁶ The NDPP is modeled after the DPP²⁴ and consists of key DPP aspects: a standardized curriculum with a core and maintenance phase; a lifestyle coach; self-monitoring with individualized participant goals to promote 5-7% weight loss and 150 minutes of weekly physical activity; and the self-monitoring of calorie consumption, weight loss, and physical activity.²⁵ Fidelity to the program is ensured by the CDC's Diabetes Prevention Recognition Program (DPRP).²⁵ The CDC provides the opportunity for public and private organizations to offer the NDPP program in their organizations and become "CDC recognized" through the DPRP by meeting the CDC recognition standards.²⁵ Participants that are most successful in NDPP have the highest retention rates.⁷ However, retention among participants enrolled in the NDPP is often lower in racial and ethnic minorities and immigrants.⁷ While the NDPP was shown to be effective in achieving weight loss, the effectiveness with ethnic and racial minority populations has been lower, leading to higher dropout rates.⁷

Adaptations to Diabetes Prevention Programs. Since the development of the DPP, multiple adaptations of the program have been created to fit the needs of adults from diverse populations.^{9–11,26–28}

As a strategy to support weight loss in Hispanic women, the DPP was adapted to *De Por Vida*, a culturally tailored weight loss intervention for Hispanic women.¹¹. The cultural adaptation of the intervention was informed by a focus group with Mexican American women.¹¹ The cultural adaptations included modifications to who delivered the intervention (i.e., Hispanic female interventionists), who attended the intervention (i.e., women only), materials, cultural aspects (e.g., incorporation of Mexican food traditions and health beliefs), and literacy (i.e., food journal for low literacy). Results from the pilot study demonstrated high feasibility with modest weight loss and BMI reductions.¹¹

To engage men from low income and minority groups in an adaptation of the NDPP, researchers sought feedback through community focus groups and an advisory panel consisting of Latino and African American males.¹⁰ From the results, the

intervention was adapted to include male-only participants and coaches, content of interest to minority men (i.e., erectile dysfunction and diabetes), accessible settings, exercise resources, and monetary incentives¹⁰. Pilot study outcomes included a mean weight loss of 3.8%, with improvements in depressive symptoms, eating, exercise, and health.¹⁰

To culturally tailor a DPP to address obesity in Latinos in a primary care setting⁹, researchers used a 2-step adaptation process including: (1) a patient-centered approach consisting of interviews with Latino patients and stakeholders, and (2) a pretest of the intervention with a patient advisory board. The study found that the original intervention aligned with the cultural values of the population.⁹ However, to further align with the participants' cultural values, the intervention was adapted to incorporate family and community support with modifications to: (1) include family members at different points of the intervention, (2) incorporate smartphone applications to allow for participant and coach support, and (3) include an easy, affordable, culturally appropriate meal at each session.⁹

A pilot of a "flex" version of the NDPP²⁶, involved a patient-centered approach that allowed participants to set individually tailored flexible goals that were modified each week as needed. The pilot results found that those in the NDPP flex group had a greater reduction in HbA1c and normoglycemia at follow-up than those in the NDPP.²⁶ These findings were in the absence of the 5-7% weight loss achieved in the DPP.²⁶ These results are promising for DPPs tailored to Latino families with minimal emphasis on weight loss tailored, since studies have shown that a higher body weight is often preferred and accepted in the Latino culture.²⁹

10

A diabetes prevention program adapted to address diabetes prevention efforts at the family and community level, The EPIC Kids²⁷, demonstrated feasibility with improvements in child BMI-z scores. Adaptations to the intervention included: (1) content modifications, with the addition of interactive activities to engage youth and families; along with (2) contextual modifications to a hybrid intervention via mobile devices.²⁷

A study comparing a faith-based and family-focused DPP tailored to Pacific Islanders²⁸, found no differences in weight loss between the adaptations. Significant changes were seen in blood pressure reductions in the family focused DPP.²⁸ The design of the family-focused DPP was informed by a community-based participatory research community-academic partnership.³⁰ Community partners, leaders, and an academic institution participated in focus groups and informant interviews.³⁰ The results provided insight into the community's health concerns, needs, and resources to address obesity, along with support in the data interpretation.²⁸ The family-based DPP was adapted to include: less sessions, due to time constraints; family/community activities to support goals; topics on eating healthy on a budget; topics on communicating effectively with medical providers; (5) individual delivery (vs. group delivery); (6) delivery by a health professional (vs. a community peer educator); (7) verbiage to reflect the linguistics and culture of the population.³⁰

Since T2DM is often seen in multiple members of the same family¹⁷, interventions focused on the family unit could be more impactful. Diabetes prevention efforts that focus on the family are limited, however, studies have found that there is a

strong willingness in families to participate in diabetes prevention programs¹⁸ and that they can be impactful in promoting psychosocial health and communication in families.¹²

Every Little Step Counts Program

ELSC was created by a non-profit community organization, The Society of St. Vincent de Paul (SVdP), as a strategy to better meet the needs of their Latino patient population (Y. Konopken, RD, CDE, CPT oral communication, March 2022). The SVdP Medical Clinic is part of SVdP, whose mission is to feed, clothe, house, and heal vulnerable populations in the Phoenix metropolitan area.³¹ The SVdP Medical Clinic provides free medical services to underserved and uninsured populations.³²

In the year 2000, the medical director of the SVdP Medical Clinic identified high rates of prediabetes and T2DM in their Latino patients (Y. Konopken, RD, CDE, CPT oral communication, March 2022). To identify strategies to address the high rates of prediabetes and T2DM in the native language of the patients and in a culturally tailored manner, the medical director sought the expertise of a bilingual, bicultural Latina Registered Dietitian and Diabetes Educator. Soon after, the Family Diabetes Program was founded at SVdP with the mission "to improve the overall health and well-being of our community through disease management and prevention education services that focus on long-term healthy lifestyle changes."³³ The services included Medical Nutrition Therapy and diabetes care and education delivered by bilingual and bicultural Latino dietitians, diabetes educators, and health educators. As part of the program's philosophy, all services were available in Spanish and English, integrated Latino cultural values, and were delivered by individuals from the Latino community (NOTE: In 2018, the Family

Diabetes Program was renamed the Ivy Center for Family Wellness (ICFW) and will be referred to from here on out as the ICFW).

With increasing rates of T2DM, it soon became clear to the ICFW that there was a need to provide diabetes prevention services in a structured program; however, a program focused on addressing diabetes risk factors in Latino families was not available at the time (Y. Konopken, RD, CDE, CPT oral communication, March 2022). To inform the development of the ELSC, the ICFW completed focus groups with Latino families who had children experiencing overweight. The goal of the focus groups was to assess the perceptions and priorities of Latino families regarding their child's weight (E. Lish, RDN, CDCES, oral communication, April 2022). The results from the focus group, along with evidence-based standards of care in diabetes from the American Diabetes Association and the Dietary Guidelines for Americans were used to inform the development of ELSC (E. Lish, RDN, CDCES, written communication, June 2023). In 2004, Every Little Step Counts was developed by the ICFW with the goal of preventing early onset of T2DM and other chronic conditions in children identified as being at high risk for cardiometabolic disease. ELSC aimed to provide classes, medical visits, nutrition, and behavior management follow-ups, while maintaining the cultural integrity and philosophy of the ICFW (E. Lish, RDN, CDCES, oral communication, April 2022).

ELSC sessions were created to deliver education and skills to children at high risk of T2DM and their families; and to decrease the risk of T2DM and cardiovascular disease (E. Lish, RDN, CDCES, oral communication, April 2022). ELSC sessions were originally delivered at the ICFW. The nutrition and physical activity components of ELSC were delivered by the ICFW staff. The SVdP Medical Clinic identified children and families at high risk of T2DM and served as the referral source to ELSC. An additional referral system to the ICFW was established in 2005 from the Phoenix School District through School Based Health Centers. This system created space for additional partnerships, which allowed for the implementation of ELSC in a local children's museum, schools within the Phoenix School District, a county hospital, and community clinics in the Phoenix metropolitan area (Y. Konopken, RD, CDE, CPT oral communication, March 2022).

In 2006, during a community coalition meeting addressing diabetes in Arizona, the director of the SVdP Medical Clinic and an academic researcher from the academic institution, Arizona State University (ASU), met for the first time (Y. Konopken, RD, CDE, CPT oral communication, March 2022). After many conversations and meetings that developed rapport, trust, and an understanding of how a collaboration between SVdP staff and the researcher could be mutually beneficial, both parties recognized the unique skills and perspectives which ultimately led to a partnership. The collaboration with the academic institution added scientific rigor and formal evaluation expertise that provided the capacity for research that would ultimately establish the ELSC intervention as efficacious. The initial project was a retrospective chart review of the data that the ICFW had been collecting on patients to assess the impact of the ELSC program on cardiometabolic health and behavior changes.^{34,35} During this time, the ELSC continued to be delivered in the community and refined through feedback from families who participated in the ELSC, health educators delivering the program, and community partners involved (Y. Konopken, RD, CDE, CPT oral communication, March 2022).

In 2007, the ICFW partnered with the Valley of Sun YMCA. The YMCA and ICFW identified that the ELSC aligned with the goals of the YMCA and the needs that the YMCA had identified in their Latino community (Y. Konopken, RD, CDE, CPT oral communication, March 2022). A YMCA director demonstrated interest in partnering with the ICFW and extending a free yearly YMCA membership to the children completing the ELSC. In 2008, the delivery location of the ELSC transitioned to the YMCA. The ICFW continued to deliver the nutrition and wellness classes; however, the YMCA physical activity trainers began delivering the physical activity sessions and adapted the physical activity component of the ELSC (E. Lish, RDN, CDCES, written communication, March 2022). The YMCA has continued to serve as the primary delivery site of the ELSC due to the number of centralized locations in areas with a high Latino population and its accessibility in the community.^{12–14,19}

In 2009, the ICFW, YMCA, and the academic institution received funding from the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities at NIH for a pilot study to assess the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of the ELSC intervention for Latino adolescents with overweight and obesity.¹³ The results demonstrated that ELSC could be feasibly delivered under a rigorous research protocol, was acceptable to Latino adolescents with overweight and obesity and their parents, and showed preliminary efficacy for reducing T2DM risk factors measured as improvements in glucose tolerance and increases in insulin sensitivity.¹³

Based upon these preliminary results and experiences, in 2012, the team of researchers and community partners secured additional funding from National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities to conduct a randomized controlled trial for Latino adolescents (14-16 years old) with obesity to test the short-term efficacy and longterm sustainability of the ELSC intervention compared to a comparison control group.³⁶ The ELSC intervention was adapted by the ICFW and delivered to Latino adolescents and their families.³⁶ The results of this trial indicated that youth in the ELSC could improve insulin sensitivity and increase weight-specific QoL 12 months after participating in the ELSC.³⁶

In 2015, the ICFW, academic institution, and the YMCA partnered with Mountain Park Health Center (MPHC), a federally qualified health clinic in the Phoenix metropolitan area (E. Lish, RDN, CDCES, written communication, March 2022). MPHC expressed willingness in engaging MPHC providers in referring patients to the ELSC and expanding the capacity of the electronic medical record for recruitment and communication. The partners secured funding through the Arizona Department of Health Services to adapt ELSC for parents and children between the ages of 8-12, known as ; Viva Maryvale!.¹²; Viva Maryvale! was delivered by the ICFW and YMCA at a local YMCA.¹² The lifestyle intervention consisted of nutrition education and behavioral skills training, delivered at a local YMCA.¹² Acceptability of the program was high with 83% of families completing the program with 91% attendance and 100% of the families stating they would recommend the program.¹² Results of this program included reductions of body fat in parents and children, HbA1c reductions in parents, and QoL improvements in both parents and children.¹² This study demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of a culturally grounded diabetes prevention program for Latino families.¹²

In 2016, the partners received additional funding from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases to conduct a randomized controlled trial to

assess the efficacy of the ELSC, a 6-month lifestyle program, in preventing diabetes in Latino youth between the ages of 12-16 with prediabetes, compared to a usual care control (UCC) group.¹⁴ During this time, a Pediatric Endocrinologist from the Division of Endocrinology at Phoenix Children's Hospital (PCH) with expertise in clinical care for youth with obesity and prediabetes joined the research study team (M. Olson, MD, oral communication, April, 2022). Pediatric Endocrinologist's practice informed the design of the UCC group.¹⁴ The UCC group consisted of two visits with the pediatric endocrinologist and a bilingual bicultural Latina registered dietitian to discuss diabetes risk factors and lifestyle changes.¹⁴ This approach for the UCC group was used taking into consideration the ethics of randomizing youth with prediabetes to a true 'control' group.¹⁴ Since the partnership with PCH, youth participating in this research identified to have diabetes have been referred to PCH for specialized care (M. Olson, MD, oral communication, April, 2022). PCH has also served as a referral site to Every Little Step Counts research study. Results from the study demonstrated that participants in both the intervention and UCC group experienced significant changes in glucose tolerance, with participants in the intervention experiencing improved weight-specific QoL compared to the UCC group.¹⁴

During the last two decades, the ELSC program has been refined, expanded, and disseminated through academic^{12–14,19} and lay outlets and a version of the ELSC curriculum was included in the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services Office of Minority Health list of interventions that can contribute to reduce health disparities and lower costs.³⁷ Additional partners and stakeholders have joined the collaboration including researchers with expertise in areas of diabetes prevention trial design and

obesity-related QoL in youth, a licensed Clinical Psychologist, the Arizona Department of Health Services, and a Diabetes Advisory Board consisting of two board certified adult endocrinologists and a board-certified family practice physician (Y. Konopken, RD, CDE, CPT oral communication, March 2022).¹⁴

Since its inception, ELSC has been adapted numerous times to expand its contextual fit and better meet the needs of the community partners and the local Latino population.^{12–14,19,36} The community partners, consultants, and the local Latino population have informed and guided the multiple adaptations of the ELSC. Although the ELSC has been adapted numerous times, the adaptation process has not yet been documented. The recording of the adaptation process of a culturally grounded evidenced-based diabetes prevention program, ELSC, to a FDPP tailored to Latino families could assist in identifying strategies to adapt family-based programming and ease the replication of adapted interventions.

Understanding Every Little Step Counts

Theoretical Background. ELSC is delivered through a lifestyle curriculum and is informed by Social Cognitive Theory³⁸ to enhance self-efficacy for making behavioral changes using several behavioral change strategies such as, observational learning, social support, goal setting, and self-monitoring. Throughout the intervention sessions, ELSC integrates SCT principles, including social context and the role of the person and environment in behavior change.³⁹ ELSC supports behavior regulation and selfmonitoring through health-related goal setting.³⁹ The intervention provides social support by providing opportunities for participants to model behaviors demonstrated by the facilitators, peers, family members, which may help participants feel more likely that they can confidently implement those behaviors, fostering self-efficacy in making behavior changes.³⁹

ELSC is also informed by an expanded Eco developmental model⁴⁰ of factors affecting type 2 diabetes risk in racial and ethnic populations. The model considers variables within different levels (i.e., organic, individual, familial, community, sociocultural) to aid in the development of diabetes prevention interventions in racial/ethnic minority populations.⁴⁰ Guided by this approach the ELSC leverages community partnerships throughout all aspects of the intervention, from the design of the research study to test the efficacy of the intervention, to the delivery of the intervention in the community by community partners.^{14,39}

Core Tenets and Functions. Table 1 outlines the core tenets and functions of the ELSC as proposed by the founders of the intervention and academic institution (Ivy Center for Family Wellness Staff oral communication, January 2023).^{35,39}

ELSC Core Tenets and Functions		
Integrates Social Cognitive Theory principles	Intervention sessions incorporate SCT principles, such as goal setting, self-monitoring, social support, and self- efficacy.	
Grounded in local culture and context	 Delivered by bilingual, bicultural Latino staff. Accessible to the community Integrates Latino cultural values of trust, respect, and personalism (<i>confianza, respeto, personalismo</i>) in personal interactions between program staff and participants. Emphasizes the cultural value of familism. Traditional Latino foods are embraced and encouraged 	

Family-based intervention	 Focuses on the health of the family vs one individual. Encourages and facilitates attendance of all family and household members. Integrates family and household members in activities
Weight-neutral approach	Embraces all body types and emphasizes improved health outcomes overweight loss and food restriction
Uses participant-centered care and language	 Values participants' preferences, needs, and values. Ensures that participants' values' guide their decisions toward lifestyle changes. Considers social determinants of health in lifestyle change and provides resources as needed. Considers emotional, mental, spiritual, social and financial needs. Sessions are delivered in a mixture of English and Spanish to engage dual language households. Uses people-first, stigma-free language.
Lifestyle education consisting of nutrition, wellness, and physical activity sessions	 Physical activity sessions 180 minutes of physical activity per week consisting of aerobic and resistance exercises that progress over time. Moderate to vigorous activities eliciting: Heart rate of at least 150 beats/minute in children Rate of perceived exertion of 5 to 7 on a 10-point scale in adults Nutrition sessions Led by registered dietitians and health educators trained in the facilitation of lifestyle education. Integration of current evidence-based nutrition guidelines: Curriculum integrates Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, American Diabetes Association, and Dietary Guidelines for Americans Wellness sessions Led by registered dietitians and health educators.

	 Focused on topics to bring awareness to self- esteem, self-knowledge, self-knowledge, and anxieties. Participants learn strategies to listen to body-talk, how to stay grounded, self-nurture, and relaxation techniques.
Integrates community partnerships	Leverages community partnerships throughout all aspects of the intervention.
Free of monetary cost to participants	All sessions and materials are available to participants free of monetary cost.

 Table 1. ELSC Core Tenets and Functions

Strategies and Frameworks for Adapting Interventions

Previous approaches taken to adapt the DPP have consisted of focus groups with the priority populations, family panels, expert consultations, interviews, fidelity observations, and the assessment of feasibility and acceptability.^{8,10–12,18} A progress report of cultural adaptations of behavioral health interventions conducted by Barrera et al. organized the cultural adaptation of programs into five stages: (1) information gathering, (2) preliminary design, (3) preliminary testing, (4) refinement, and (5) and final trial.⁴¹ Through a scoping study, Escoffery and colleagues defined 11 key adaptation steps to adapt public health interventions based on 13 adaptation frameworks: (1) Assess community, (2) Understand the Intervention, (3) Select intervention, (4) Consult with experts, (5) Consult with stakeholders, (6) Decide what needs adaptation, (7) Adapt the original program, (8) Train staff, (9) Test the adapted materials, (10) Implement, and (11) Evaluate.²⁰ Adaptations have also occurred in stages.⁴² Sit and colleagues adapted a digital mental health intervention using four stages: (1) stage setting and expert consultation, (2) preliminary content adaptation, (3) iterative content adaptation with community members; (4) finalized adaptation with community feedback meetings; interviews and focus groups.⁴² An adaptation of the DPP to engage men consisted of four phases: (1) focus groups and community leader discussion, advisory panel participation and adaptation of the NDPP curriculum, coach training, and (4) pilot study implementation.¹⁰

A Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications to Interventions

An expanded framework for reporting adaptations and modifications to evidencebased interventions (FRAME) was developed by Stirman et al. as a method for characterizing adaptations to interventions.⁴³ This framework can be found in Figure 1.

Using the FRAME categories adaptations can be classified as follows: (1) when and how the modification was made, (2) was the modification planned/proactive or unplanned/reactive, (3) who decided to modify or adapt, (4) what was modified, (5) at what level of delivery was the modification made, (6) type of content modification, (7) the modifications relationship to the original intervention's fidelity, (8) the reason for the modification, (a) intent or goal of the modification and/or (b) contextual factors that informed the modification.⁴³ The paragraphs below will describe the categories for adaptation classification according to the FRAME.⁴³

When and How the Modification Was Made. Modifications to an intervention can occur at any point during the planning, implementation, scale-up, or the sustainment phase.⁴³ Specifying when the modifications occurred can provide a background to the origin of the modification.⁴³

Was the Modification Planned/Proactive or Unplanned/Reactive. Modifications may also be planned/unplanned or reactive/active.⁴³ Proactive modifications occur systematically and take place as early as possible before the implementation.⁴³ Reactive modifications are less systematic than planned modifications and occur in an unplanned manner during or after the implementation, usually due to unforeseen circumstances.⁴³

Who Decided to Modify or Adapt. Specifying the individual that decided on the modification can provide more detail on the reasons for modification and the level of impact the modification may have ⁴³ Modifications to the intervention may be made reactively by the intervention team due to participant behavior in the classroom, which may impact outcomes.⁴³

What Was Modified. Understanding what was modified, can give more details regarding modifications to the context, training/evaluation, and content.⁴³ Contextual modifications include changes to the way the entire intervention is delivered (e.g., changes to setting, format, and personnel).⁴³ Modifications to the training and evaluation process are changes to how staff are trained or how the intervention is evaluated.⁴³

Type of Content Modification. Content modifications include changes to the procedures, material, or changes that impact how the intervention is delivered (e.g., 90 vs 60-minute classes, 20 vs. 25 sessions).⁴³ Modifications to the content can occur in a variety of ways. FRAME contains 14 possible classifications for content modifications, ranging from lengthening to adding elements to the intervention.⁴³

At What Level of Delivery Was the Modification Made. Modifications to interventions may occur at different levels (e.g., individual, cohort, organization).⁴³ The level of delivery specifies for whom or what was the modification made.⁴³ Classifying at

what level an intervention occurs can help identify if changes are made at the individual level or on a broader scale.⁴³

Modifications Relationship to the Original Intervention's Fidelity. Modifications may be classified as either fidelity consistent or fidelity inconsistent.⁴³ Fidelity refers to the degree that the intervention's core elements or functions are delivered as intended.⁴³ Fidelity consistent modifications stay true to intervention's core elements or functions, while fidelity inconsistent modifications deviate from the core elements and functions.⁴³

Reason for the Modification. Changes to an intervention can be a result of the sociopolitical environment, and/or related to the needs of the organization, provider, or recipients.⁴³ The intent or goal of the modification and/or contextual factors that informed the modification can provide a better understanding about the context surrounding the modifications and their potential impact on outcomes.⁴³



Figure 1. FRAME. Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications-Enhanced⁴³

Cultural Adaptations

Socioecological models that assess determinants of risk for T2DM consider not only the role of the individual, but also relationships, community, and sociocultural systems.^{40,44} An expanded Eco developmental model of factors affecting type 2 diabetes, considers various variables within different systems levels (e.g., organic, individual, familial, community, sociocultural) to aid in the development of diabetes prevention interventions in racial/ethnic minority populations.⁴⁰ The familial level explores the relationship patterns from the dyad (e.g., husband and wife) to the extended family systems, such as children and close relatives, and support for health, food preferences, exercise habits and activities, and differential acculturation.⁴⁰

Tailoring interventions to cultural and ethnic minorities has been shown to lead to improved health outcomes and access.⁴⁵ Health interventions culturally tailored to racial and ethnic minorities have incorporated sociocultural variables such as beliefs, values, norms, and behaviors.⁴⁶ In racial and ethnic minority populations values related to interpersonal relationships consist of familism, trust, respect, and personal interaction.⁴⁷ Education for the Latino population has involved *familismo* (familism), which has been found to be protective for health in Latino families.¹⁶

Familism. Familism is a multidimensional dynamic construct and has been defined in numerous ways. Familism involves the beliefs and attitudes within the family system and has been seen as a source of support among Latino families.⁴⁸ Familism beliefs have been found to play a role in physical and mental health of Latino populations.⁴⁹ The nature of familism has been found to be both negative and positive in health behaviors.⁴⁹ In diabetes management, familism has been significantly linked to
patient self-care behaviors.⁵⁰ In a study conducted by Fisher and colleagues, diabetes management was best in Hispanic families with structure and organization, clear gender roles, and those able to resolve differences regarding diabetes care.⁵⁰

Behaviors that manifest from familism include "financial support, shared daily activities, shared living, shared child rearing, and immigration."⁵¹ Calzada et al., refer to familism as a dynamic construct with costs and benefits.⁵¹ Benefits that have been identified within shared living and daily activities include exposure to positive role models and social support (emotional and instrumental).⁵¹ Each of these components can be leveraged at the familial level of the Eco developmental Model in Diabetes Prevention⁴⁰ in support for health, food preferences, exercise habits and activities, and differential acculturation.

Family-Based Interventions in Obesity and Diabetes Prevention

Family-based interventions are considered the gold-standard in obesity prevention in youth.¹⁵ A family-centered approach in diabetes care has been found to facilitate positive family functioning, specifically high family cohesion and low family conflict.⁵² Common constructs within family system theories include cohesion and resilience.¹⁵ Theories most commonly used in family health promotion include the social cognitive theory, ecological systems theory, family systems theory and theory of planned behavior.⁵³

Cohesion. Cohesion has been described as a critical family process and defined as a "positive, supportive interaction among family members, closeness, and warmth."⁵⁴ In youth, family cohesion has been found to play a role in mental health⁵⁵, child conduct

disorder⁵⁶, depression, antisocial behavior, and delinquency.⁵⁴ In Mexican American and European American parents, family cohesion is strongly related to nurturing behaviors, such as active listening, warmth, responsiveness, and positive parent involvement.⁵⁷

The Circumplex Model consists of three key concepts describing family functioning: cohesion, flexibility, and communication.⁵⁸ Within the model cohesion is defined as, "the emotional bonding that family members have toward one another."⁵⁸ This model focuses on a balance of the three concepts, and hypothesizes that a balance in cohesion and flexibility leads to healthy family functioning, while unbalanced cohesion and flexibility can lead to problems in family functioning.⁵⁸

Resilience. Interventions with an emphasis on building resilience in families and children have improved outcomes by focusing on collaborative goal setting⁵⁹, problem solving^{59,60}, and tailoring to family strengths.^{59–61} Family resilience has been defined as:

A path a family follows as it adapts and prospers in the face of stress, both in the present and over time. Resilient families positively respond to these conditions in unique ways, depending on the context, developmental level, the interactive combination of risk and protective factors, and the family's shared outlook.⁶²

Ethnic identity has shown to be an important factor in resilience for Latino families.⁵⁹ A framework to enhance resilience in Latino families involves familism, *personalismo*, belief systems, cultural social support, social and economic resources, communication/problem-solving, among other components.⁵⁹

Engagement. Engagement in assessing the efficacy of preventative interventions has been considered a multi-faceted construct.⁶³ The association of program attendance

with improved outcomes has varied across studies.⁶³ Active engagement has been associated with improved outcomes in evidence-based interventions.⁶⁴

In a study conducted on women of childbearing age, engagement in a diabetes prevention program was associated with motivation, perceived weight loss, and supportive relationships in the program.⁶⁵ Participants who dropped from the study expressed confusion about the program's relevance and aim, lack of connection to the participants/coaches, and barriers to attendance (e.g., lack of childcare, lack of transportation, health issues, and stress of being weighed in front of others).

In a review of mental health treatment programs four approaches were found to be effective in improving family engagement and retention: (1) family systems approach, (2) enhancing family support and coping, (3), brief early treatment engagement discussions, and (4) motivational interviewing.⁶⁶

Empowerment. Empowerment has been defined as "a process where individuals learn to see a closer correspondence between their goals and a sense of how to achieve them, and a relationship between their efforts and life outcomes."⁶⁷ Empowerment has been used as part of preventive, chronic disease management, and in family centered interventions.⁶⁷

A third rendition of the Chronic Care Model developed for the prevention of obesity and its associated comorbidities contains family and individual empowerment as its guiding principle.⁶⁸ The Chronic Care Model has been shown to be promising in improving health outcomes.⁶⁹ A quasi-experimental study that incorporated the Empowerment Theory and the Family Ecological Model in a childhood obesity prevention found a significant increase in parent's resource empowerment specific to

their child's body weight, physical activity, and diet, as well as a parent's efficacy to support healthy lifestyle behaviors.⁷⁰ Youth empowerment has been shown to significantly influence adolescent self-efficacy, perceptions for healthy food choices, healthy eating, attitudes regarding physical activity, and motivations for health.⁷¹ The Family-Centered Empowerment Model consists of four steps: (1) increasing knowledge level through education sessions, (2) using educational materials, (3) questions and answers, and (4) lecture.⁷² A Family-Centered Empowerment Model was found to decrease burden of care in parents of children affected by cancer.⁷³

CHAPTER 3

METHODS

The methodology that guided the adaptation of the ELSC to the FDPP will be described as the adaptation occurred in preparation for implementation. The approach included phases and processes commonly used to adapt health-based interventions²⁰, community-based participatory research⁷⁴, and quantitative and qualitative data, however, this thesis does not include mixed methods data analysis. The methodology that guided the adaptation from the ELSC to the FDPP is described in the next few pages.

Phases and Processes Guiding Adaptation

Overview. The FDPP curriculum was adapted from evidence-based curricula developed for Latino adolescents with obesity and prediabetes called ELSC.^{12,14} The adaptation process was informed by a scoping study of frameworks for adapting public health interventions.²⁰ The key phases and processes used to guide the adaptation of the ELSC included: a *Community-Based Participatory Research (CBPR) Approach, Deciding What Needs Adaptation, Interviewing the Community, Adapting the Curriculum, Pilot Study, Staff Training, Implementation, and Evaluation.*

The phases and processes used to guide the adaptation are depicted in Figure 2. A CBPR approach was integrated throughout the adaptation process in order to include all ELSC partners equitably, while acknowledging the strengths that each partner brings to address risk factors associated with T2DM in the Latino community. In the scoping study of frameworks for adapting public health interventions²⁰ Consult with Experts, Consult

with Stakeholders, and Assess the Community are noted as key in intervention adaptation. Throughout the adaptation of the ELSC, these three phases occurred as an iterative process to further refine the adapted curriculum. For the adaptation of the ELSC, these three phases were consolidated under the Community-Based Participatory Research Approach. The phase Assess the Community was also noted as a separate phase and renamed to Interviewing the Community to better reflect how the prioritized population was involved in informing the adaptation of the intervention.

For the purpose of this thesis, only the methodology used to guide the adaptation of the nutrition and wellness component of the ELSC will be discussed. Modifications to the physical activity curriculum are out of the scope of this thesis and for this reason will not be addressed. The final phases of adaptation *Implementation* and *Evaluation* remain in progress and are beyond the scope of this thesis. Each phase and process used to guide the adaptation will be discussed in detail throughout the methodology.



Figure 2. Phases and Processes Guiding Adaptation

A Community-Based Participatory Research Approach

The completion of the phases that guided the adaptation was made possible through the institutional and community partnerships that have been built throughout the last two decades of the ELSC research studies.^{12,14,19,34,36,39} See Table 2. for a list of the entities involved in the ELSC research study and a description of their role throughout the adaptation process.

Throughout each phase and process that guided the adaptation of the ELSC to the FDPP, community partners and stakeholders have collaborated to move the adaptation forward. The contributions of each entity to the adaptation will be described throughout the thesis.

Entity	Title/Name	Role During the Adaptation	
Academic Institution	Arizona State University	Provided scientific expertise in diabetes prevention, intervention adaptation and evaluation, and research study design. Informed the adaptation of the intervention and led the research study to test the efficacy of the intervention.	
Community Wellness and Diabetes Clinic	St. Vincent de Paul, Ivy Center for Family Wellness (ICFW)	Founders of the intervention. Adapted and delivered the nutrition/wellness sessions. Trained bilingual bicultural Latino Registered Dietitians and health educators to deliver the nutrition and wellness sessions. Referral source for the research study testing the adapted intervention.	
YMCA	Valley of the Sun YMCA	Served as the delivery site for the adapted pilot and intervention. Identified branches for implementation of the	

		intervention. The organization provided a gym membership incentive to the study participants. Led the adaptation of the physical activity curriculum. Staff delivered the physical activity sessions.
Medical Clinics and Community Organizations	Society of St. Vincent de Paul, Phoenix Children's Hospital, St. Joseph's Hospital and Medical Center, AZ Pediatric Care, Panda Pediatrics, Neighborhood Christian Clinic, Mountain Park Health Center, Native Health, Cigna West	Referral sites for the research study testing the adapted intervention.
Media	Segunda Mano Magazine (local Spanish-language magazine)	Referral source for the research study testing the adapted intervention.
Co-founders of Intervention	Dietitian/Diabetes Care and Education Specialist Consultants	Served as a consultant throughout the steps that guided the adaptation.
Founder of the Wellness Sessions	Licensed Clinical Psychologist Consultant	Adapted the wellness sessions for the family system.
Co-investigator	Washington State University	Provided scientific expertise in weight-specific quality of life.
Co-investigator	National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases	Provided scientific expertise in diabetes prevention trial design.
Board Certified Pediatric Endocrinologist	Study Co-investigator and Study Physician	The provider's practice informed the design of the usual care control group in the research study testing the adapted intervention.
Diabetes Advisory Board	Two board certified adult endocrinologists and a board-	Comprised of diverse community organizations serving Latino families

	certified family practice physician	
Diabetes Coalition	Arizona Diabetes Coalition	Conduit for dissemination of the adapted intervention to the community.
Licensed Clinical Social Worker	Consultant	Served as a behavioral health consultant for the adapted wellness sessions. Led the behavioral health training for the intervention facilitators.

Table 2. ELSC Community and Institutional Partners

Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I

The ICFW and academic institution involved in the adaptation has over a decade of experience in the understanding of the theoretical background, core tenets and functions of the ELSC^{12,14,19,34,36,39}, however, to adapt for a new population (i.e., Latino families), these aspects were assessed and reevaluated for modifications in preparation for a grant application. To do this, the academic institution and ICFW met on a weekly basis to evaluate the needed modifications. During the meetings, modifications to the intervention content, context, evaluation, implementation, and scale up strategy were discussed. Meeting minutes were tracked by each entities' management team. The community partner (ICFW) and academic institution collaborated to identify the theory and processes to guide the adaptation to a family-based intervention.

Literature Review. A literature review was conducted by the academic institution to identify family processes critical in improving health outcomes and behaviors in family-based interventions. The identified family processes included engagement⁶³, empowerment,⁶⁸ cohesion⁷³, and resilience.⁶¹ The academic institution presented the

family processes during the weekly meetings, where the community partner (ICFW) and academic institution worked to define the processes within the context of diabetes prevention in Latino families (see Table 3.).

Unifying Family Processes		
Process	Definition	
Engagement	Interacting as a family, with other families, health educators, and the environment to take actions to improve the health of the family system ⁶³ .	
Empowerment	Acquiring knowledge, skills, and capacity to identify and utilize. resources to improve health and reduce diabetes risk ⁶⁸ .	
Cohesion	Strengthening bonds within families by decreasing conflict and prioritizing the health of the family system around a shared purpose and health goal ⁷³ .	
Resilience	Leveraging strengths, relationships, cultural values, and assets in order to respond to the pathogenic forces underpinning T2D so that the family can flourish as a healthy system ⁶¹ .	

 Table 3. Unifying Family Processes

A Model to Guide the Adaptation. The academic institution and community partner (ICFW) developed a Family Diabetes Prevention (FDP) Model (Figure 2.) during the weekly meetings. The FDP model was developed collaboratively and was guided by the literature review and family processes. The model consists of the family processes, which may promote skills (e.g., communication, role-modeling, goal setting, problem-solving, self-management, self-monitoring) to increase health behaviors (e.g., increased physical activity and improved eating behaviors) to support health outcomes (e.g., reduced risk of T2DM and increased QoL). The FDP Model was used to inform the adaptation of the ELSC to Latino families.

Adapting the Curriculum Structure. During the weekly meetings the academic institution and community partner (ICFW) reviewed the ELSC nutrition and wellness sessions and objectives and evaluated which aligned with the FDP Model. They identified

which sessions and objectives should be kept or removed from the curriculum based on how closely they related to the processes and skills in the FDP Model. New sessions and objectives related to the FDP Model skills and processes were proposed. The duration and frequency of classes was assessed based on the ICFW's experience delivering the intervention. Health educators and registered dietitians who had delivered past renditions of the ELSC proposed removing or adding elements of the intervention based on their extensive experience delivering the ELSC.



Figure 3. Family Diabetes Prevention Model

Interviewing the Community: Understanding Family Processes in Latino Families

After modifying the curriculum structure and aligning the ELSC curriculum content to the FDP Model, the academic institution conducted in-depth interviews with Latino families who had previously participated in the ELSC. The purpose of the interviews was to better understand how the family processes could be integrated into the family-based diabetes prevention curriculum to enhance the reach, diffusion, and impact of the intervention on the family system.

Recruitment Strategy. The academic institution invited 30 Latino families who participated in the previous ELSC, Preventing Diabetes in Latino Adolescents. Only participants that consented to be contacted for future studies were recruited. The entire household (e.g., children, parents, grandparents) was invited to participate in the interview to gather collective feedback from each family.

Protocol. Exploratory qualitative interviews were used to identify codes related to the family processes. An interview guide was developed by the academic institution and the ICFW (see Appendices C and D for interview questions). The interview guide consisted of four sections; each section was dedicated to each process (e.g., Family Engagement, Family Empowerment, Family Resilience, Family Cohesion). Sections included questions to understand how the processes were enacted in the family unit. Trained bilingual/bicultural research coordinators conducted the in-depth interviews. Families were interviewed via Zoom and the interviews were conducted in English and Spanish.

Data Collection and Analysis. Each in-depth interview was digitally recorded and archived until uploaded to a professional transcription service agency (GMR) using their online, encrypted web-portal. GMR provides a linguistic transcription service, for the transcription of in-depth interviews conducted in Spanish. The approach included translating the Spanish language interview into English, to facilitate the coding in English. Prior to analyses, the fidelity of the English language translation was assessed against the original digital recording. Transcribed files were reformatted with the addition of original protocol headings and labels, to facilitate analyses using NVivo 12. Coding was conducted by two research team members. The research team developed a node hierarchical structure that consisted of: (a) Parent Nodes defined as the label for the contents of the Focus Question (e.g., Family Engagement, Family Empowerment, Family Resilience, Family Cohesion), (b) Child Nodes (subcategories within the parent node) theoretically driven by the definition of the family processes and new emerging themes, and (c) the Grandchild Nodes informed by each response phrase, identified in a "bottom-up" process of coding that captures a family's answer to a given Focus Question, as examined within and across families. During analysis with NVivo, "in vivo coding" was used to identify each answer to a Focus Question by "tagging" each response with the family's ID number.

The coded transcriptions were reviewed and reconciled by the two coders for a finalized version. The final codes were displayed as percentages in tables. Codes that emerged >50% during the family interviews were presented to the ICFW during the next step of adaptation for curriculum adaptation.

Deciding What Needs Adaptation: II

The ICFW and the academic institution met on a weekly basis to adapt the intervention to incorporate the codes (Child Nodes) that emerged from the family interviews. The team consisted of researchers from the academic institution, ICFW

registered dietitians/diabetes care and education specialists, and health educators with experience delivering past renditions of the intervention. Codes that had emerged >50% during the family interviews were presented during the meetings. The ICFW and academic institution provided feedback on what session activities should be kept, as to assure fidelity to the original intervention, and identified activities within the curriculum that aligned with the codes that emerged from the family interviews. New activities and modifications were proposed to augment the codes that had emerged from the interviews. The aligning activities and proposed modifications were tracked via Excel sheets linking the code (child node) to the session activities.

Adapting the Curriculum: I

The ICFW adapted the curriculum to integrate the sessions, objectives, and activities proposed in the previous phases. During the curriculum modifications, the ICFW identified additional activities that could be added, modified, or removed to augment the codes that had emerged from the family interviews. The ICFW modified the content based on their experience working with the Latino population, delivery of the ELSC interventions, and input from previous health educators and registered dietitians who had delivered the intervention, while ensuring fidelity to the core tenets and functions of the ELSC. The 2020-2025 Dietary Guidelines for Americans⁷⁵, Ellyn Satter's Division of Responsibility⁷⁶, and Standards of Care in Diabetes-2021⁷⁷ were reviewed to identify best practices and current evidence on dietary interventions for youth and families and incorporated into the curriculum.

FDPP Pilot Study

After adapting the curriculum, the FDPP curriculum was piloted to assess feasibility and acceptability among Latino families.

Study Participants. Study participants included families consisting of children, parent/guardians, and additional family members. The inclusion and exclusion criteria are noted below.

Eligible families: Inclusion criteria for families included self-reported Latino designation with a child between the ages of 10-16 years of age with overweight or obesity identified by a BMI of \geq 85th percentile for age and sex.

Children: Inclusion criteria included an age of 10-16 years of age with overweight or obesity identified by a BMI of \geq 85th percentile for age and sex. Exclusion criteria was a diagnosis of T2DM.

Parents/Guardians. Inclusion criteria for parents involved being a parent or guardian of the child who met the inclusion criteria for participation in the feasibility study. Exclusion criteria included an inability to participate in physical activity according to the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PARQ+).^{78,79}

Additional family members: Inclusion criteria included siblings who did not meet the screening criteria above but demonstrated an interest in participating in the intervention and adults 18 or older living in the home. Exclusion criteria included an inability to participate in physical activity according to the PARQ+. If a non-parent/guardian was unable to participate in physical activity according to the PARQ+ but demonstrated interest in attending the nutrition education sessions, completing participant surveys and the focus group, the study implementers were notified, and participants were allowed to participate in all study activities except for physical activity sessions.

Recruitment Strategy. Registered Dietitians (RDs) and community health educators at the ICFW recruited potential participants via their referral network of over 100 schools, community centers, and healthcare organizations in the greater Phoenix area. ICFW staff also posted study flyers on their Facebook and Instagram pages. Staff contacted previous participants of the ELSC that had expressed interest in participating in future research studies. Staff used a screening script and questionnaire to tell them about the study and determine eligibility.

Protocol. Home visits were conducted before the beginning of the group sessions, 10 families were randomly selected to participate in the home visit. A bilingual bicultural registered dietitian from the ICFW and a YMCA personal trainer visited the family in their home (or via Zoom based on the family's preference) for a 60-minute visit to facilitate program engagement of all household members. During the home visit, the team members provided a program overview, class schedule and materials, answered questions, and built rapport with the family.

The group sessions were delivered at a local YMCA through biweekly sessions (N=15). Due to time constraints, one of the sessions was not piloted. The sessions were delivered by bilingual/bicultural ICFW RDs to four groups of 4-6 families. Each group received four sessions. The sessions were delivered once a week and included one hour of nutrition and wellness education, followed by a 1-hour physical activity session delivered by YMCA personal trainers.

Data Collection. At the end of each home visit and weekly session, surveys and evaluation forms were administered to participants, intervention facilitators, and independent observers to assess the acceptability and feasibility of the adapted curriculum.

At the end of the 4 weeks, families were invited to participate in a focus group to provide additional feedback. Focus groups were conducted by research coordinators and lasted approximately one hour. Focus groups were conducted with parents and youth separately in English and Spanish by trained bilingual/bicultural research coordinators. Questions asked in the focus groups revolved around the focus group objectives: (1) to understand how the Latino family unit perceives the adapted diabetes prevention program for Latino families; (2) to learn about the experiences of each family member's participation in the program; and 3) to explore barriers family members experienced to participate in the program.

Each in-depth interview was digitally recorded and archived until uploaded to a professional transcription service agency (GMR) using their online, encrypted web-portal. GMR provides a linguistic transcription service, for the transcription of in-depth interviews conducted in Spanish. The approach included translating the Spanish language interview into English, to facilitate the coding in English.

Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III (After the Pilot Study)

Survey and focus group data from the pilot study were presented during weekly ICFW adaptation meetings. Modifications to the intervention, based on the pilot data, were proposed, and presented during the meetings. The ICFW determined the capacity to make changes to the intervention based on staffing and resources, while ensuring fidelity to the intervention. A clinical psychologist, the original developer of the wellness sessions, reviewed the adapted wellness sessions based on the underlying theory guiding the wellness sessions.⁸⁰

Adapting the Curriculum: II

The ICFW adapted the curriculum to integrate the data from the previous two phases (i.e., *Pilot Study*, *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: II*). The ICFW and the academic institution reviewed the curriculum for final edits. The reading level of the intervention handouts was assessed by the ICFW using the Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level with an aim of \leq 6th grade level. Changes to the intervention handouts were made as needed to decrease the reading level.

Staff Training

The ICFW adapted and led the staff training in preparation for the delivery of the adapted curriculum. The components of the previous staff training and pilot results were considered when adapting the staff training for the FDPP. Modifications to the staff training were tracked via meeting minutes.

Data Analysis for Adaptation Process

Content Analysis (Adaptation Coding). To better understand the nature of adaptations that occurred throughout the phases, a trained researcher conducted content analysis on the data collected (i.e., meeting minutes, grant application, community

interviews, pilot study results, adaptation tracking sheets, and adapted curriculum) during the phases that guided the adaptation.

FRAME Coding System. The FRAME⁴³ (Figure 1) was used as the coding structure for the content analysis, however, new categories and levels were added based on a deductive and inductive coding process.

Defining Adaptations. Only adaptations that occurred during the completed phases of this study were included in the content analysis (Figure 2). To capture adaptations made to the curriculum content, adaptations were defined as: (1) adaptations to a session's objectives coded as a single adaptation (e.g., One adaptation = Two objectives from one session removed and one objective from the same session moved to a new session), (2) adaptations to the session structure, (3) removal/addition of sessions, and (4) adaptations to materials. Adaptations that occurred during the completed phases but were not part of the final curriculum (the version of the curriculum adapted after the pilot study) were not included in the analysis. Adaptations to the context, training, evaluation, and implementation and scale-up activities were also coded.

Data Triangulation. Once the adaptations were coded, the codes were triangulated with community partners and stakeholders via consensus meetings. The first consensus meeting was a one-hour meeting with the academic institution and ICFW, where the methodology for the research study was reviewed, preliminary data was shared, and a brief adaptation consensus was started to identify and cross-check the origins of the adaptations. The second consensus meeting was an all-day (7.5 hour) meeting with the ICFW, where the classification of each adaptation was cross-checked and reclassified as needed.

Additional consensus meetings were also conducted as needed with the primary investigator of the academic institution and the ICFW.

Quantitative Analysis. Data were uploaded and analyzed using SPSS v. 28. Double data entry was performed to examine and correct data entry errors. Variables were determined from the FRAME categories and levels. Descriptive statistics were conducted to analyze the frequencies and proportions of each category and level within the FRAME. Cross tabulation was performed on the *Who led the adaptation?*, *During what phase was the adaptation decided upon?*, and the FRAME categories: *What is modified?*, *Level of Delivery, What is the nature of content modification?*, *What was the goal?*, and *Reason*.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

Overall, a total of N=66 adaptations were identified. Due to the level of content analysis (i.e., the coding of adaptations to a session's objectives as a single adaptation and changes to these objectives occurring in more than one phase) and nature of adaptations (e.g., modifications to the instructor guide in more than one phase) a single adaptation was often coded in more than one phase. In a similar manner, a single adaptation (e.g., Integration of the FDP Model) often had multiple codes in the following FRAME categories: *What is modified?*, *At what level of delivery (for whom/what is the modification made?)*, *What is the nature of the content modification?*, *What was the goal?*, and *Reason* due to the multifaceted nature of the adaptation.

Changes to the FRAME Coding System

New categories and levels identified through the inductive coding process were added to the FRAME. New categories included *Who led the adaptation*? and *During what phase was the adaptation decided upon*? with the levels *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I (during grant application preparation), Deciding What Needs Adaptation: II (after community interviews)*, and *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III (after pilot study)*. The original FRAME category *WHO participated in the decision to modify*? was modified to *Who led the adaptation*? with the levels *Academic Institution* (ASU), *Community Partners* (consisting of both the ICFW and YMCA), and *Both* (consisting of ASU, ICFW, and YMCA) to better reflect the CBPR approach used throughout the adaptation process. The levels *Training and Evaluation* were separated under *What is* modified?. The level Interventionists was added in the category At what level of delivery (for whom/what is the modification made?). Combining session content was added in the category What is the nature of the content modification?. To promote fidelity was added in in the category What was the goal?. Sociopolitical-To integrate the current state of the science, Organization/setting-To integrate observer feedback, Provider-To integrate interventionist/community feedback, Recipient-Feedback, Recipient-Reduce conflict among recipients, Recipient-Person-Centered Care/Language were added as Reasons for adaptation. Changes to the FRAME are bolded and highlighted in Figure 4.

FRAME Frequencies and Proportions

Due to the nature of the study, all N=66 adaptations occurred in the planning phase and were proactive and planned. In the same manner, all adaptations were fidelity consistent with the preservation of the core tenets and functions of the ELSC. Summaries of the frequencies and proportions of the adaptations across the FRAME levels and categories can be found in Table 4, 5, and 6.

During what phase was the adaptation decided upon?. The adaptations (N=66) were coded across the Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I (during grant application preparation), Deciding What Needs Adaptation: II (after community interviews), and Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III (after pilot study) levels. The adaptations occurred across the levels a total of N=66 times, with 24 (36.6%) adaptations occurring in the Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I; 7 (10.6%) during the Deciding What Needs Adaptation: II, 31 (46.9%) during the Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III, and 4 (6.0%) in both the Deciding What Needs Adaptation I & III (Table 4). Adaptations occurred with

the highest frequency in Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I (during grant preparation)

Adaptations (N=66)	Frequency (N)	Proportion (%)
During what phase was the adaptation decided upon?		
Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I ^a	24	36.6
Deciding What Needs Adaptation: II ^b	7	10.6
Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III ^c	31	46.9
Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I & III ^d	4	6.0

and Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III (after pilot study).

Table 4. Phase Where Adaptation Was Decided Upon (FRAME Classification).

^aDuring grant application preparation

^bAfter community interviews

^cAfter pilot study

^dDuring grant application preparation and after pilot study

Who led the adaptation?. Adaptations (N=66) were led by the academic

institution, community partners, or both. A total of 3 (4.5%) adaptations were led by the

academic institution and 22 (33.3%) by community partners. Most of the adaptations

(62.1%) were led by both the academic institution and community partners (Table 5).

Adaptations (N=66)	Frequency (N)	Proportion (%)
Who led the adaptation?		
Academic Institution	3	4.5
Community Partners	22	33.3
Both (Academic Institution/Community Partners)	41	62.1

Table 5. Entity Who Led the Adaptation (FRAME Classification).

What was modified? From the 66 adaptations, a total of n=72 classifications were identified in the *What is modified*? category. Of the 72 classifications, most (76.4%) were *Content* related (n=55). Remaining adaptations were related to the *Context* (n=6),

Training (n=2), *Evaluation* (n=7), and to *Implementation and scale-up activities* (n=2).

At what level of delivery? (For whom/what is the modification made?). The 66 adaptations were classified at the different levels of delivery a total of n=120. The lowest classification occurred at the *Network System/Community* level (n=5), the second highest

at the *Interventionists* level (n=53), and most occurred at the *Intervention Group* level (n=62).

Type of contextual modification? A total of n=6 contextual modifications occurred throughout phases. Contextual modifications included adaptations to the *Format* (n=2), *Setting* (n=1), *Personnel* (n=1), and *Population* (n=2).

What is the nature of the content modification? From the 66 adaptations, a total of n=83 content modifications were identified. The top five types of content modifications included: tailoring/tweaking/refining (n=24), removing/skipping elements (n=16), shortening/condensing (n=11), adding elements (n=10), and reordering of intervention modules or segments (n=8).

What was the goal?. Each adaptation had multiple goals (n=92). Overall, the goals of the adaptations were related to increasing reach or engagement, increasing retention, improving feasibility, improving fit with recipients, addressing cultural factors, improving effectiveness outcomes, increasing satisfaction, promoting fidelity, and promoting equity/reducing disparities. Improving feasibility (n=41) was the overarching goal of most of the adaptations.

Reason. A total of 104 reasons were identified as the origin of the adaptations. The reasons for the adaptations stemmed across the recipient, provider, organizational, and the sociopolitical FRAME levels. Two of the most prominent reasons consisted of organization time constraints (n=29) and to integrate the interventionist and community feedback (n=27).



Figure 4. FRAME Coding Structure for Adaptations to the FDPP

FRAME Classification	Frequency (n)	Proportion (%)
What was modified?	<i>n</i> =72	
Content	55	76.4
Contextual	6	8.3
Training	2	2.8
Evaluation	7	9.7
Implementation and scale-up activities	2	2.8
At what level of delivery?	n=120	
Network System/Community	5	4.2
Intervention Group	62	51.7
Interventionists	53	44.1
Type of contextual modification?	n=6	
Format	2	33.3
Setting	1	16.7
Personnel	1	16.7
Population	2	33.3
What is the nature of the content modification?	n=83	
Tailoring/tweaking/refining	24	28.9
Changes in packaging or materials	3	3.6
Adding elements	10	12.0
Removing/skipping elements	16	19.3
Shortening/condensing (pacing/timing)	11	13.3
Lengthening/extending (pacing/timing)	4	4.8
Reordering of intervention modules or segments	8	9.6
Spreading (breaking up session content over multiple sessions)	4	4.8
Integrating another treatment into EBP	1	1.2
Repeating elements or modules	1	1.2
Combining session content	1	1.2
What was the goal?	<i>n</i> =92	
Increase reach or engagement	9	9.7
Increase retention	1	1.1
Improve feasibility	41	44.6
Improve fit with recipients	17	18.4
To address cultural factors	5	5.4
Improve effectiveness/outcomes	8	8.7
Increase satisfaction	4	4.3
To promote fidelity	3	3.3
Promote equity/reduce disparities	4	4.3
Reason	n=104	

Sociopolitical/Outer Context-To	4	3.8
integrate the current state of the science		
Sociopolitical/Outer Context-	1	0.9
Sociohistorical context		
Organization-To integrate observer	2	1.9
feedback		
Organization-Available resources	3	2.9
(funds, staffing, technology, space)	• •	• • •
Organization/setting-time constraints	29	27.9
Organization-Mission	1	0.9
Organization-Regulatory/compliance	1	0.9
Provider-Previous Training and Skills	2	1.9
Provider-Perception of the intervention	7	6.7
Provider-To integrate	27	25.9
interventionist/community feedback		
Recipient-Reduce conflict among	3	2.9
recipients		
Recipient-Literacy and Education Level	3	2.9
Recipient-Access to resources	1	0.9
Recipient-Person-Centered	1	0.9
Care/Language		
Recipient-Comorbidity/Multimorbidity	4	3.8
Recipient-Cultural norms	6	5.8
Recipient-feedback	9	8.6

Table 6. FRAME Classification of the 66 Adaptations

Cross-tabulation of FRAME Levels and Categories

Adaptation Occurrence by Entity and Phase. As mentioned previously, most of the adaptations were decided upon during the grant preparation (N=24) and after the pilot study (N=31) (Figure 5). During the grant preparation, most adaptations were decided upon by both the academic institution and community partners (N=20). After the pilot study, community partners led 17 adaptations and both the community partners and academic institution co-led 14 adaptations.

Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What is modified?). Modifications to the content (n=29) were prominent during the *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III* phase (Figure 6). During this phase, modifications classified as content level were mostly led by the community partners (n=17). In the phase *Deciding What Needs* *Adaptation: I,* most modifications classified were content level (n=16), and were all co-led by both the community partners and academic institution. Throughout all the *Deciding What Needs Adaptation* phases, of the 72 classifications identified at the *What is modified?* level most of the adaptations were led by both the community partners and academic institution (n=46).

Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Level of Delivery). During Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III, the highest classification present was at the intervention group level (n=30), with the second highest at the interventionists level (n=28), and lowest at the network system/community level (n=1) (Figure 7). Meaning, that during the phase Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III, most adaptations were coded to be at the intervention group and interventionists levels. These classifications were identified primarily in adaptations led by the community partners (n=33). The second highest number of adaptations occurred in Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I (N=24). During this phase, the highest classification present was also at the intervention group level (n=22), with the second highest at the interventionists level (n=16), and lowest at the network system/community level (n=4). These classifications were identified mostly in adaptations led by both the community partners and academic institution (n=36). Overall, of the 120 classifications at the Level of Delivery most were led by both the community partners and academic institution (n=74).

Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Nature of Content Adaptation). In the phase Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III, the most common type of content modification was tailoring/tweaking/refining (n=16) most often led by the

community partner (Figure 8). In *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I*, removing/skipping elements was the second highest type of content modification all led by both community partners and the academic institution. Throughout all the *Deciding What Needs Adaptation* phases, of the 83 classifications identified at the *Nature of Content Adaptation* level most were led by both the community partners and academic institution (n=50).

Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What was the goal?). Improving feasibility was the primary goal behind the adaptations, predominantly present in the *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I* (n=14) and *Deciding What Needs Adaptation III* (n=22) (Figure 9). Of these, most (n=24) were led by both the community partners and academic institution. Overall, during all the *Deciding What Needs Adaptation* phases, of the 92 classifications identified at the *What was the goal?* level most were led by both the community partners and academic institution (n=55).

Who Led the Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Reason). During the phase Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I organization/setting time constraints was a common reason for adaptation (n=12), all which were led by both the community partners and academic institution. In Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III, prominent reasons for adaptations related to organization/setting time constraints (n=15) and to integrate interventionist and community feedback (n=18), mostly led by the community partners (Figure 11). Overall, during all the Deciding What Needs Adaptation phases, of the 104 classifications under the reason for adaptation, most were led by both the community partners and academic institution (n=62) (Figure 10 & 11).



Adaptation Occurrence by Entity and Phase

Phase Where Adaptation Was Decided Upon

Figure 5. *Adaptation Occurrence by Entity and Phase.* Frequency of adaptations (N=66) led by each entity (i.e., community partners, academic institution, or both) during each adaptation phase(s).

85



Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What is modified?)

Academic Institution Community Partners Both

(N=66 Adaptations; n=72 Classifications)

Occurrence of Classification Led by Entity

Figure 6. *Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What is modified?).* Depicts who led the adaptation (i.e., community partners, academic institution, or both) by phase according to the FRAME classification *What is modified?.*



Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Level of Delivery)

Academic Institution Community Partners Both

(N=66 Adaptations; n=120 Classifications)

Figure 7. *Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Level of Delivery).* Depicts who led the adaptation (i.e., community partners, academic institution, or both) by phase and the level(s) of delivery according to the FRAME classification.



Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Nature of Content Adaptation)

Academic Institution Community Partners Both

(N=66 Adaptations; n=83 Classifications)

Occurrence of Classification Led by Entity

Figure 8. Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Nature of Content Adaptation). Depicts who led the adaptation

by phase and the nature of the content adaptation(s) according to the FRAME classification.

61



Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What was the goal?)

Academic Institution Community Partners Both (N=66 Adaptations; n=92 Classifications)

Figure 9. *Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (What was the goal?).* Depicts who led the adaptation by phase and the goal(s) of the adaptation according to the FRAME classification.
Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Reason)

Academic Institution Community Partners Both (N=66 Adaptations; n=104 Classifications)



Occurrence of Classification Led by Entity

Abbreviations: Rec=Recipient, Prov=Provider, Org=Organization, SocioPoli/OutrContxt=Sociopolitical/Outer Context, Contxt=context

Figure 10. *Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Reason).* Depicts who led the adaptation by phases *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I* and *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: II* and reason(s) for adaptation according to the FRAME.

Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Reason)

Academic Institution Community Partners Both (N=66 Adaptations; n=104 Classifications)



Occurrence of Classification Led by Entity

Abbreviations: Rec=Recipient, Prov=Provider, Org=Organization, SocioPoli/OutrContxt=Sociopolitical/Outer Context, Contxt=context

Figure 11. *Who Led Adaptation by Phase and Classification (Reason) Continued.* Depicts who led the adaptation by the phases *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III* and *I & III* and the reason(s) for the adaptation according to the FRAME.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

While the ELSC has been delivered in the community and research setting for over two decades, this study is the first to rigorously examine adaptations made to the ELSC.

Community-Based Participatory Research Throughout the Adaptation

A core tenet of the ELSC involves the integration of community partnerships throughout all aspects of the intervention. The approach guiding the adaptation was CBPR with the aim of including all partners equitably. Most of the adaptations (62.1%) were co-led by the community partners and academic institution, aligning with the CBPR approach and ELSC core tenet. CBPR principles were also seen throughout the reasons for adaptation since a common reason for adaptation was to integrate interventionist and community feedback. The collaboration between entities is most evident during the grant preparation, as most adaptations during this phase were co-led by both the community partners and academic institution.

Evans and colleagues note that the power of intervention adaptation is usually held by the intervention developers in collaboration with researchers⁸¹, which is reflected in the results of this study. Most of the adaptations that remained in the final curriculum were decided upon during the grant application (N=24) and after pilot study (N=31). A minimal number (N=7) of adaptations that occurred after the *Interviewing the Community* phase remained in the final curriculum. Similarly, only 8.6% of adaptations were related to recipient feedback. In preparation for future ELSC adaptations, the role the community plays (outside of the intervention developers) in adaptations is important to delineate to support the needs of new contexts, empower communities, and reduce the risk of allegiance bias.⁸¹

Prominence of Content Modifications

Content modifications (76.4%) were the most prominent type of adaptation seen throughout the study, which could be related to the level of granularity at which content adaptations to the curriculum were coded (e.g., coded adaptations to session objectives and adaptations to session structure as two separate adaptations). Adaptations to the context, training, evaluation, implementation/scale-up activities were often coded on a "broader" level (e.g., addition of the Home Visit training coded as a single adaptation, instead of coding components of the training as multiple adaptations). The overarching goal of curriculum adaptation, during the phases *Adapting the Curriculum: I* and *II* may also be why most adaptations were content-related. The aim of the FDPP pilot study was to assess the feasibility and acceptability of the adapted curriculum, which may be why content modifications were predominantly seen after the pilot study (n=29). After the pilot study, content modifications were mostly led by the community partners, which aligns with the ICFW's expertise in curriculum development and intervention coordination.

The main type of content modification included *tailoring/tweaking/refining* (28.9%). Refinement has been defined as "modification(s) of an intervention to work in the same place or with the same population as originally designed and implemented."⁸¹ The previous rendition of ELSC that served as the intervention model for this study, was

delivered to Latino adolescents and their families in a similar context as the FDPP, which may be why most adaptations were classified as *tailoring/tweaking/refining*.

The second highest type of content modification was *removing/skipping elements* (19.3%), likely related to the decrease in intervention length from the past ELSC rendition (i.e., 29 sessions delivered in 6 months) to the adapted FDPP intervention (i.e., 16 sessions delivered in 3 months). In a similar manner, the decrease in intervention length may be the reason why most adaptations were related to organization/setting time constraints, especially when the ICFW and academic institution determined the decrease in intervention length after the *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: I (during grant application preparation)* phase. During *Deciding What Needs Adaptation: III (after the pilot study)* prominent reasons for adaptation were *organization/setting time constraints* and *to integrate interventionists and community feedback* related to survey feedback from the interventionists regarding the delivery the intervention within the designated class time.

For Whom Were the Adaptations Made?

Most of the adaptations were made for the intervention group (51.7%) and interventionists (44.1%) likely due to the pre-implementation nature of the study. Adaptations for the network system and community often occur at a larger scale. The small number of adaptations at the network system and community level (4.2%) may be related to the community partners and academic institution identifying goals and planning for the first stages of scaling the ELSC, but not yet executing the goals and plans. As the ELSC is scaled to be delivered in new contexts, adaptations at the network system and community level will likely increase.

What is the ELSC?

It is well-known that adaptations to interventions occur throughout all phases of planning, testing, implementation, scale-up, and sustainment.⁴³ With the development of systems to classify adaptations⁴³, there is an opportunity to analyze retrospective adaptations that have been made to the ELSC to better understand the historical nature of the adaptations to gain insight into the ELSC's core tenets and function. The ELSC core tenets and functions were first identified by the community partners who developed the intervention. The core tenets and functions have served as the structure for the planning (e.g., integration of community and institutional partnerships), implementation (e.g., modifications to curricula), dissemination, and scale-up of the ELSC. As noted in the results section, all the adaptations were fidelity consistent with the preservation of the core tenets and functions, which could have been due to the program developers (ICFW) playing a leading role in the adaptation. The core tenets and functions have continued to be refined throughout the last 20 years; however, the question remains, what makes the ELSC the ELSC? A potential strategy to better understand this could be to go back even further to identify adaptations that have been made to the ELSC during the past 20 years and establish themes that have been maintained throughout each adaptation/rendition of the program. This strategy may give stakeholders and community partners better insight into the essence of the ELSC. The Adaptome⁸², a proposed data platform to store such adaptations, may serve as a strategy to do this. Better understanding how the ELSC core

tenets and functions play out in new contexts may support the replication of the ELSC in larger contexts and help determine when adaptations may or may not be needed.

To Track or Not to Track Adaptations?

There is an equally important opportunity to continue tracking adaptations to the ELSC as they occur in a live manner during implementation, scale-up, and sustainment phases, especially since the phases *Implementation* and *Evaluation* are critical to the assessment of adaptations but are rarely reported on in scientific literature.²⁰ However, it is important to consider that tracking adaptations is time and resource intensive. Prior to tracking adaptations, it may be beneficial to identify the overall goal and purpose of tracking, as tracking adaptations has not yet been shown to lead to more effective outcomes.⁸¹ Nonetheless, tracking adaptations may support the development of strategies to identify how to tie adaptations to outcomes.⁸³ Holtrop and colleagues have identified strategies to capture and analyze adaptations to support outcomes assessment⁸³. Marques and colleagues identified that fidelity-consistent modifications to an intervention were associated with reductions in posttraumatic stress and depressive symptoms in clients.⁸⁴ If time and resources permit, these studies demonstrate how tracking adaptations may support the development of strategies to tie adaptations may

What is Adaptation?

To support the strategies mentioned above, consensus as to what constitutes adaptation is needed. There are varying definitions as to what constitutes adaptation and when adaptation should occur.⁸⁵ Prior to tracking adaptations, it is important to consider

what constitutes an adaptation and the varying levels of adaptation granularity. In this study, we looked at adaptations made to the evaluation, content, context, training, evaluation, implementation, and scale-up. The granularity for describing an adaptation within each of those levels could have ranged from describing it as a single macro adaptation (i.e., integration of the FDP model), breaking it down to a meso-level adaptation (i.e., modifications to the evaluation), or a micro-level adaptation (i.e., assessment of family structure via family pedigrees). Throughout the literature, investigators have looked at adaptations with varying levels of granularity.^{86–90} To efficiently track adaptations, consensus as to what constitutes varying levels of adaptation granularity (i.e., macro, meso, micro) is needed. Consensus may save time and resources spent on tracking adaptations that may not be necessary. The goal of the adaptation may be worth considering when assessing the level of granularity at which to track adaptations. This may become critical if tracking adaptations falls under the role of the implementers or other individuals who may be simultaneously coordinating and delivering interventions.

When Is Adaptation Needed?

An important consideration for future ELSC adaptations is determining when adaptations are needed. Evans and colleagues note the risk of a "culture of adaptation hyperactivity" when interventions are applied in new contexts and too much emphasis is placed on dissimilarities with limited emphasize on similarities.⁸¹ It is important to equally look at similarities as they may exceed dissimilarities. When similarities exceed dissimilarities, pre-implementation adaptation may not be necessary, saving valuable resources and time. If similarities exceed dissimilarities and/or the intervention is being delivered in a similar context, it may be beneficial to proceed to implementation and scale-up phases and track adaptations as interventions are being delivered. During these phases, adaptations led by implementers need to be fully supported and tracked to aid in the assessment of adaptations to the intervention's efficacy. To do this, the field needs adaptation processes and tracking approaches that are feasible to implement at a larger scale by communities, organizations, and research institutions. Waiting for an intervention's efficacy to be determined prior to implementation and dissemination works against the nature of adaptation, and would require efficacy trials with each new adaptation, posing resource and time barriers to dissemination and implementation.⁹¹

Strengths and Limitations

This is the first study outlining adaptations to the ELSC through a rigorous multidimensional approach that involved CBPR throughout all phases. Due to evidence demonstrating that Latino populations are at high risk of developing T2D and the partnerships that have developed during the last two decades in the Phoenix area, the participants in this study were limited to Latino families in the Phoenix metropolitan area. Although the focus limits generalizability to other populations, the overall framework may be used to guide interventions for additional populations. The descriptive nature limits the scope of the study as it cannot establish causation and can only provide an overview of what occurred.

Other limitations of this study include the use of a convenience sample during the pilot study phase; participants recruited and enrolled had previously participated in the

ELSC, potentially impacting the measure of acceptability, since families had demonstrated high engagement in the previous interventions. However, these families were selected as they were best equipped to share their feedback on the adapted curriculum based on their familiarity and previous engagement with the ELSC. The instructors delivering the sessions had extensive experience delivering past adaptations of the ELSC, which may have impacted (i.e., increased) the feasibility of the pilot study. However, due to the instructors' extensive experience, they were best equipped to share their feedback on participant engagement and the clarity and ease of delivering the adapted curriculum.

The expertise of the community partners was relied on heavily for the interpretation and integration of the data during times where there was not sufficient time to analyze the data (e.g., integration of data from *Interviewing the Community* and *Pilot Study* phases into adapted curriculum). The data was not analyzed to determine a threshold for when to incorporate adaptations, a limitation of this study. Alternatively, when to incorporate adaptations was determined by the community partners and their expertise in curriculum development and intervention coordination, a strength that aligns with the CBPR approach and ELSC core tenets.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION

With the increasing rates of T2D, the field of dissemination and implementation science needs strategies to support families in diabetes prevention. The ELSC has demonstrated feasibility, acceptability, and efficacy in reducing risk factors for the development of T2DM in Latino youth.^{12–14,19} This documentation of the adaptation of ELSC may support future adaptation, replication, and scaling to mitigate T2D risk and improve health outcomes. There is an opportunity to analyze past and future adaptations to the ELSC to better understand the intervention's core tenets and functions, along with the relationship between the forms of adaptations and intervention outcomes. In preparation for the scaling of ELSC, it is critical to determine when adaptations are needed to avoid a "culture of adaptations. Future ELSC adaptations would benefit from considering how to incorporate feedback from diverse stakeholders and populations in preparation for scaling.

REFERENCES

- Tönnies T, Brinks R, Isom S, et al. Projections of Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Burden in the U.S. Population Aged <20 Years Through 2060: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2022;46(2):313-320. doi:10.2337/dc22-0945
- National Diabetes Statistics Report | Diabetes | CDC. Published January 20, 2022. Accessed March 31, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statisticsreport/index.html
- Andes LJ, Cheng YJ, Rolka DB, Gregg EW, Imperatore G. Prevalence of Prediabetes Among Adolescents and Young Adults in the United States, 2005-2016. JAMA Pediatr. 2020;174(2):e194498. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.4498
- Vidmar AP, Durazo-Arvizu R, Weigensberg MJ, Alderete TL, Goran MI. Rapid Decline in β-Cell Function and Increasing Adiposity Are Associated With Conversion to Type 2 Diabetes in At-Risk Latino Youth. *Diabetes*. 2023;72(6):735-745. doi:10.2337/db22-1034
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;346(6):393-403. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa012512
- 6. What Is the National DPP? Published August 31, 2021. Accessed October 25, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/prevention/what-is-dpp.htm
- Cannon MJ, Masalovich S, Ng BP, et al. Retention Among Participants in the National Diabetes Prevention Program Lifestyle Change Program, 2012-2017. *Diabetes Care*. 2020;43(9):2042-2049. doi:10.2337/dc19-2366
- McCurley JL, Gutierrez AP, Gallo LC. Diabetes Prevention in U.S. Hispanic Adults: A Systematic Review of Culturally Tailored Interventions. *Am J Prev Med*. 2017;52(4):519-529. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.10.028
- Rosas LG, Lv N, Lewis MA, et al. A Latino Patient-Centered, Evidence-Based Approach to Diabetes Prevention. J Am Board Fam Med. 2018;31(3):364-374. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2018.03.170280
- Gary-Webb TL, Walker EA, Realmuto L, et al. Translation of the National Diabetes Prevention Program to Engage Men in Disadvantaged Neighborhoods in New York City: A Description of Power Up for Health. *Am J Mens Health*. 2018;12(4):998-1006. doi:10.1177/1557988318758788
- 11. Lindberg NM, Stevens VJ, Vega-López S, Kauffman T, Calderón MR, Cervantes MA. A weight-loss intervention program designed for Mexican-American women:

Cultural adaptations and results. *J Immigr Minor Health Cent Minor Public Health*. 2012;14(6):1030-1039. doi:10.1007/s10903-012-9616-4

- Soltero EG, Ramos C, Williams AN, et al. ¡Viva Maryvale!: A Multilevel, Multisector Model to Community-Based Diabetes Prevention. *Am J Prev Med*. 2019;56(1):58-65. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2018.07.034
- Shaibi GQ, Konopken Y, Hoppin E, Keller CS, Ortega R, Castro FG. Effects of a culturally grounded community-based diabetes prevention program for obese Latino adolescents. *Diabetes Educ*. 2012;38(4):504-512. doi:10.1177/0145721712446635
- Peña A, Olson ML, Hooker E, et al. Effects of a Diabetes Prevention Program on Type 2 Diabetes Risk Factors and Quality of Life Among Latino Youths With Prediabetes: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2022;5(9):e2231196. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.31196
- 15. Skelton JA, Buehler C, Irby MB, Grzywacz JG. Where are family theories in familybased obesity treatment?: conceptualizing the study of families in pediatric weight management. *Int J Obes 2005*. 2012;36(7):891-900. doi:10.1038/ijo.2012.56
- Corona K, Campos B, Chen C. Familism Is Associated With Psychological Well-Being and Physical Health: Main Effects and Stress-Buffering Effects. *Hisp J Behav* Sci. 2017;39(1):46-65. doi:10.1177/0739986316671297
- Scott R, Langenberg C, Sharp S, et al. The link between Family History and risk of Type 2 Diabetes is Not Explained by Anthropometric, Lifestyle or Genetic Risk Factors: the EPIC-InterAct Study. *Diabetologia*. 2013;56(1):60-69. doi:10.1007/s00125-012-2715-x
- Rivers P, Hingle M, Ruiz-Braun G, Blew R, Mockbee J, Marrero D. Adapting a Family-Focused Diabetes Prevention Program for a Federally Qualified Health Center: A Qualitative Report. *Diabetes Educ*. 2020;46(2):161-168. doi:10.1177/0145721719897587
- Brito E, Patrick DL, Konopken YP, Keller CS, Barroso CS, Shaibi GQ. Effects of a Diabetes Prevention Program on Weight-Specific Quality of Life in Latino Youth. *Pediatr Obes*. 2014;9(5):e108-e111. doi:10.1111/jpo.240
- Escoffery C, Lebow-Skelley E, Udelson H, et al. A scoping study of frameworks for adapting public health evidence-based interventions. *Transl Behav Med.* 2019;9(1):1-10. doi:10.1093/tbm/ibx067
- Lee JM, Okumura MJ, Davis MM, Herman WH, Gurney JG. Prevalence and Determinants of Insulin Resistance Among U.S. Adolescents: A population-based study. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(11):2427-2432. doi:10.2337/dc06-0709

- Ogden CL, Fryar CD, Hales CM, Carroll MD, Aoki Y, Freedman DS. Differences in Obesity Prevalence by Demographics and Urbanization in US Children and Adolescents, 2013-2016. *JAMA*. 2018;319(23):2410-2418. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.5158
- Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) Research Group. The Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP): description of lifestyle intervention. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25(12):2165-2171. doi:10.2337/diacare.25.12.2165
- 24. Key National DPP Milestones | National Diabetes Prevention Program | Diabetes | CDC. Published December 27, 2022. Accessed June 20, 2023. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/prevention/milestones.htm
- 25. CDC. Center for Disease Control and Prevention Diabetes Prevention Recognition Program Standards and Operating Procedures. Published May 1, 2021. Accessed June 20, 2023. https://nccdphp.my.salesforce.com/sfc/p/#t0000000TZNF/a/3d0000013waz/OWobW TDJFmeYyMN.eK0dnLDFiiYi7jbtrmMqJurYJUE
- Ritchie ND, Sauder KA, Kaufmann PG, Perreault L. Patient-Centered Goal-Setting in the National Diabetes Prevention Program: A Pilot Study. *Diabetes Care*. Published online August 17, 2021. doi:10.2337/dc21-0677
- Hingle MD, Turner T, Going S, et al. Feasibility of a family-focused YMCA-based diabetes prevention program in youth: The E.P.I.C. Kids (Encourage, Practice, and Inspire Change) Study. *Prev Med Rep.* 2019;14:100840. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.100840
- McElfish PA, Felix HC, Bursac Z, et al. A Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing Diabetes Prevention Program Interventions for Overweight/Obese Marshallese Adults. *Inq J Med Care Organ Provis Financ*. 2023;60:00469580231152051. doi:10.1177/00469580231152051
- Martinez SM, Rhee KE, Blanco E, Boutelle K. Latino mothers' beliefs about child weight and family health. *Public Health Nutr*. 2017;20(6):1099-1106. doi:10.1017/S1368980016002962
- Kaholokula JK, Mau MK, Efird JT, et al. A Family and Community Focused Lifestyle Program Prevents Weight Regain in Pacific Islanders: A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. *Health Educ Behav Off Publ Soc Public Health Educ*. 2012;39(4):386-395. doi:10.1177/1090198110394174
- 31. Mission and History | The Society of St. Vincent de Paul. Accessed June 20, 2023. https://www.stvincentdepaul.net/about-us/mission-and-history
- 32. Virginia G. Piper Medical Clinic | The Society of St. Vincent de Paul. Accessed June 20, 2023. https://www.stvincentdepaul.net/our-work/virginia-g-piper-medical-clinic

- Center for Family Wellness | The Society of St. Vincent de Paul. Accessed June 20, 2023. https://www.stvincentdepaul.net/our-work/center-family-wellness
- 34. Greenwood-Ericksen MB, Chapman CR, Konopken Y, Ertl J, Shaibi GQ. Sustainability of a culturally informed community-based diabetes prevention program for obese latino youth. *J Prim Care Community Health*. 2010;1(2):83-87. doi:10.1177/2150131910368864
- 35. Shaibi GQ, Greenwood-Ericksen MB, Chapman CR, Konopken Y, Ertl J. Development, Implementation, and Effects of Community-Based Diabetes Prevention Program for Obese Latino Youth. *J Prim Care Community Health*. 2010;1(3):206-212. doi:10.1177/2150131910377909
- Soltero EG, Olson ML, Williams AN, et al. Effects of a Community-Based Diabetes Prevention Program for Latino Youth with Obesity: A randomized controlled trial. *Obes Silver Spring Md*. 2018;26(12):1856-1865. doi:10.1002/oby.22300
- 37. Diabetes Prevention Programs: Equity Tailored Resources.
- 38. Bandura A. Social cognitive theory: an agentic perspective. *Annu Rev Psychol*. 2001;52:1-26. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1
- Shaibi GQ, Konopken YP, Nagle-Williams A, McClain DD, Castro FG, Keller CS. Diabetes Prevention for Latino Youth: Unraveling the Intervention "Black Box." *Health Promot Pract.* 2015;16(6):916-924. doi:10.1177/1524839915603363
- Castro FG, Shaibi GQ, Boehm-Smith E. Ecodevelopmental contexts for preventing type 2 diabetes in Latino and other racial/ethnic minority populations. *J Behav Med*. 2009;32(1):89-105. doi:10.1007/s10865-008-9194-z
- Barrera M, Castro FG, Strycker LA, Toobert DJ. Cultural adaptations of behavioral health interventions: a progress report. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 2013;81(2):196-205. doi:10.1037/a0027085
- 42. Sit HF, Ling R, Lam AIF, Chen W, Latkin CA, Hall BJ. The Cultural Adaptation of Step-by-Step: An Intervention to Address Depression Among Chinese Young Adults. *Front Psychiatry*. 2020;11:650. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00650
- 43. Wiltsey Stirman S, Baumann AA, Miller CJ. The FRAME: an expanded framework for reporting adaptations and modifications to evidence-based interventions. *Implement Sci.* 2019;14(1):58. doi:10.1186/s13012-019-0898-y
- 44. Scientific Statement: Socioecological Determinants of Prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes | Diabetes Care. Accessed October 25, 2021. https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/36/8/2430

- 45. Effectiveness of Culturally Tailored Interventions for Chronic Illnesses among Ethnic Minorities. doi:10.1177/0193945920918334
- 46. Torres-Ruiz M, Robinson-Ector K, Attinson D, Trotter J, Anise A, Clauser S. A Portfolio Analysis of Culturally Tailored Trials to Address Health and Healthcare Disparities. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2018;15(9):1859. doi:10.3390/ijerph15091859
- Castro FG, Alarcón EH. Integrating Cultural Variables into Drug Abuse Prevention and Treatment with Racial/Ethnic Minorities. *J Drug Issues*. 2002;32(3):783-810. doi:10.1177/002204260203200304
- Jackson Y. Familismo. In: *Encyclopedia of Multicultural Psychology*. SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2006:211-211. doi:10.4135/9781412952668
- Katiria Perez G, Cruess D. The impact of familism on physical and mental health among Hispanics in the United States. *Health Psychol Rev.* 2014;8(1):95-127. doi:10.1080/17437199.2011.569936
- 50. Fisher L, Chesla CA, Skaff MM, et al. The family and disease management in Hispanic and European-American patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2000;23(3):267-272. doi:10.2337/diacare.23.3.267
- Calzada EJ, Tamis-LeMonda CS, Yoshikawa H. Familismo in Mexican and Dominican Families From Low-Income, Urban Communities. *J Fam Issues*. 2013;34(12):1696-1724. doi:10.1177/0192513X12460218
- Hanson CL, De Guire MJ, Schinkel AM, Kolterman OG. Empirical Validation for a Family-Centered Model of Care. *Diabetes Care*. 1995;18(10):1347. doi:10.2337/diacare.18.10.1347
- 53. Ho YCL, Mahirah D, Ho CZH, Thumboo J. The role of the family in health promotion: a scoping review of models and mechanisms. *Health Promot Int*. 2022;37(6):daac119. doi:10.1093/heapro/daac119
- 54. Martha J. Cox, Jeanne Brooks-Gunn. Conflict and Cohesion in Families : Causes and Consequences. Routledge; 1999. http://search.ebscohost.com.ezproxy1.lib.asu.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk& AN=19325&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- 55. Deng S, Lopez V, Roosa MW, et al. Family Processes Mediating the Relationship of Neighborhood Disadvantage to Early Adolescent Internalizing Problems. *J Early Adolesc.* 2006;26(2):206-231. doi:10.1177/0272431605285720
- Roosa MW, Dumka L, Tein JY. Family Characteristics as Mediators of the Influence of Problem Drinking and Multiple Risk Status on Child Mental Health. *Am J Community Psychol.* 1996;24(5):607-624.

- 57. Behnke AO, MacDermid SM, Coltrane SL, Parke RD, Duffy S, Widaman KF. Family Cohesion in the Lives of Mexican American and European American Parents. *J Marriage Fam.* 2008;70(4):1045-1059. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2008.00545.x
- 58. Olson D. FACES IV and the Circumplex Model: validation study. *J Marital Fam Ther*. 2011;37(1):64-80. doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2009.00175.x
- Becvar DS. *Handbook of Family Resilience*. Springer New York; 2012. Accessed November 21, 2021. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/asulibebooks/detail.action?docID=994704
- Beardslee WR, Wright EJ, Gladstone TRG, Forbes P. Long-term effects from a randomized trial of two public health preventive interventions for parental depression. *J Fam Psychol*. 2007;21(4):703-713. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.21.4.703
- 61. Walsh F. Strenghtening Family Resilience. Vol 3. Thurs. The Guildford Press; 2016.
- 62. Hawley DR. Clinical Implications of Family Resilience. *Am J Fam Ther*. 2000;28(2):101-116.
- 63. Bamberger KT, Coatsworth JD, Fosco GM, Ram N. Change in Participant Engagement During a Family-Based Preventive Intervention: Ups and Downs with Time and Tension. *J Fam Psychol JFP J Div Fam Psychol Am Psychol Assoc Div 43*. 2014;28(6):811-820. doi:10.1037/fam0000036
- 64. Nix RL, Bierman KL, McMahon RJ. How attendance and quality of participation affect treatment response to parent management training. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 2009;77(3):429-438. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0015028
- 65. Harrison CR, Phimphasone-Brady P, DiOrio B, et al. Barriers and Facilitators of National Diabetes Prevention Program Engagement Among Women of Childbearing Age: A Qualitative Study. *Diabetes Educ*. 2020;46(3):279-288. doi:10.1177/0145721720920252
- 66. Ingoldsby EM. Review of Interventions to Improve Family Engagement and Retention in Parent and Child Mental Health Programs. *J Child Fam Stud.* 2010;19(5):629-645. doi:10.1007/s10826-009-9350-2
- Zimmerman MA. Empowerment Theory. In: Rappaport J, Seidman E, eds. *Handbook* of Community Psychology. Springer US; 2000:43-63. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-4193-6_2
- 68. Dietz WH, Solomon LS, Pronk N, et al. An Integrated Framework For The Prevention And Treatment Of Obesity And Its Related Chronic Diseases. *Health Aff Proj Hope*. 2015;34(9):1456-1463. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0371

- Association AD. 1. Improving Care and Promoting Health in Populations: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2021. *Diabetes Care*. 2021;44(Supplement 1):S7-S14. doi:10.2337/dc21-S001
- Jurkowski JM, Lawson HA, Green Mills LL, Wilner PG, Davison KK. The Empowerment of Low-Income Parents Engaged in a Childhood Obesity Intervention. *Fam Community Health*. 2014;37(2):104-118. doi:10.1097/FCH.00000000000024
- Muturi N, Kidd T, Daniels AM, et al. Examining the role of youth empowerment in preventing adolescence obesity in low-income communities. *J Adolesc*. 2018;68:242-251. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.08.001
- 72. Shoghi M, Shahbazi B, Seyedfatemi N. The Effect of the Family-Centered Empowerment Model (FCEM) on the Care Burden of the Parents of Children Diagnosed with Cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev APJCP. 2019;20(6):1757-1764. doi:10.31557/APJCP.2019.20.6.1757
- 73. Kulis SS, Ayers SL, Harthun ML, Jager J. Parenting in 2 Worlds: Effects of a Culturally Adapted Intervention for Urban American Indians on Parenting Skills and Family Functioning. *Prev Sci Off J Soc Prev Res*. 2016;17(6):721-731. doi:10.1007/s11121-016-0657-0
- 74. Using Community-Based Participatory Research to Address Health Disparities. doi:10.1177/1524839906289376
- 75. Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2020-2025. 9th ed. U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2020. https://www.dietaryguidelines.gov/sites/default/files/2021-03/Dietary_Guidelines_for_Americans-2020-2025.pdf
- 76. Raise a healthy child who is a joy to feed. Ellyn Satter Institute. Accessed June 20, 2023. https://www.ellynsatterinstitute.org/how-to-feed/the-division-of-responsibility-in-feeding/
- 77. American Diabetes Association. 13. Children and Adolescents: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2021. *Diabetes Care*. 2020;44(Supplement_1):S180-S199. doi:10.2337/dc21-S013
- 78. Schwartz J, Mas-Alòs S, Takito MY, et al. Cross-cultural translation, adaptation, and reliability of the Spanish version of the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire for Everyone (PAR-Q+). *Health Fit J Can.* 2019;12(4):3-14. doi:10.14288/hfjc.v12i4.291
- 79. Jamnik VK, Warburton DER, Makarski J, et al. Enhancing the effectiveness of clearance for physical activity participation: background and overall process. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab Physiol Appl Nutr Metab*. 2011;36 Suppl 1:S3-13. doi:10.1139/h11-044

- 80. Diana EM, Leach, Connie M. C.H.A.R.G.E. Up Your Life. Acacia Publishing, Inc.; 2009.
- Evans RE, Moore G, Movsisyan A, Rehfuess E. How can we adapt complex population health interventions for new contexts? Progressing debates and research priorities. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. Published online September 27, 2020:jech-2020-214468. doi:10.1136/jech-2020-214468
- Chambers DA, Norton WE. The Adaptome. *Am J Prev Med.* 2016;51(4 Suppl 2):S124-S131. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.05.011
- Holtrop JS, Gurfinkel D, Nederveld A, et al. Methods for capturing and analyzing adaptations: implications for implementation research. *Implement Sci.* 2022;17(1):51. doi:10.1186/s13012-022-01218-3
- Marques L, Valentine SE, Kaysen D, et al. Provider fidelity and modifications to Cognitive Processing Therapy in a diverse community health clinic: Associations with clinical change. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 2019;87(4):357-369. doi:10.1037/ccp0000384
- 85. Copeland L, Littlecott H, Couturiaux D, et al. The what, why and when of adapting interventions for new contexts: A qualitative study of researchers, funders, journal editors and practitioners' understandings. *PloS One*. 2021;16(7):e0254020. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0254020
- Samuels SL, Hu P, Maciejewski KR, et al. Real-world effectiveness of the Bright Bodies healthy lifestyle intervention for childhood obesity. *Obes Silver Spring Md*. 2023;31(1):203-213. doi:10.1002/oby.23627
- 87. Fritz JM, Greene T, Brennan GP, et al. Characterizing modifications to a comparative effectiveness research study: the OPTIMIZE trial—using the Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications to Evidence-based Interventions (FRAME). *Trials*. 2023;24:137. doi:10.1186/s13063-023-07150-1
- Goldschmidt AB, Tortolani CC, Accurso EC, et al. Adapting family-based treatment for adolescent anorexia nervosa delivered in the home: A novel approach for improving access to care and generalizability of skill acquisition. *J Eat Disord*. 2023;11:130. doi:10.1186/s40337-023-00850-8
- 89. Weber MB, Rhodes EC, Ranjani H, et al. Adapting and scaling a proven diabetes prevention program across 11 worksites in India: the INDIA-WORKS trial. *Res Sq.* Published online August 4, 2023:rs.3.rs-3143470. doi:10.21203/rs.3.rs-3143470/v1
- 90. Mclaughlin M, Nathan A, Thornton A, Schipperijn J, Trost SG, Christian H. Adaptations to scale-up an early childhood education and care physical activity intervention for real-world availability — Play Active. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2023;20:65. doi:10.1186/s12966-023-01457-7

91. Chambers DA. Advancing adaptation of evidence-based interventions through implementation science: progress and opportunities. *Front Health Serv.* 2023;3. Accessed October 22, 2023. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frhs.2023.1204138

APPENDIX A

FAMILY INTERVIEWS IRB APPROVAL



APPROVAL FULL BOARD

Gabriel Shaibi CONHI - Research Faculty and Staff 602/496-0909 Gabriel.Shaibi@asu.edu

Dear Gabriel Shaibi:

On 1/25/2016 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title:	Diabetes Prevention for Latino Youth with Prediabetes
Investigator:	Gabriel Shaibi
IRB ID:	STUDY00003735
Funding:	Name: HHS: National Institutes of Health (NIH),
-	Grant Office ID: 2684, Funding Source ID:
	1R01DK107579-01
Grant Title:	2684;
Grant ID:	2684;
Documents Reviewed:	 Phone Script, Category: Recruitment Materials;
	· Food Block Screener, Category: Measures (Survey
	questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus
	group questions);
	 Letter of Support St.pdf, Category: Off-site
	authorizations (school permission, other IRB
	approvals, Tribal permission etc);
	 Quality of Life Measure, Category: Measures
	(Survey questions/Interview questions /interview
	guides/focus group questions);
	 Letter of Support YMCA, Category: Off-site
	authorizations (school permission, other IRB
	approvals, Tribal permission etc);
	Protocol-MARKED, Category: IRB Protocol;
	Letter of Support SIRC, Category: Recruitment
	materials/advertisements /verbal scripts/phone scripts

Page 1 of 2

· Preventing Diabetes in Latino Youth -
Submitted.pdf, Category: Sponsor Attachment;
 Curriculum Guide, Category: Technical
materials/diagrams;
 Protocol - CLEAN, Category: IRB Protocol;
 Child Assent-MARKED, Category: Consent Form;
 Preparing for Health Screening, Category:
Recruitment Materials;
 Weight and Quality of Life Measure, Category:
Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions
/interview guides/focus group questions);
 Child Assent Clean, Category: Consent Form;
 Parental Permission, Category: Consent Form;
 Physical Activity Recall, Category: Measures
(Survey questions/Interview questions /interview
guides/focus group questions);

The IRB approved the protocol from 1/20/2016 to 1/19/2017 inclusive. Before 1/19/2017, you are to submit a completed Continuing Review application and required attachments to request continuing approval or closure.

If continuing review approval is not granted before the expiration date of 1/19/2017 approval of this protocol expires on that date. When consent is appropriate, you must use final, watermarked versions available under the "Documents" tab in ERA-IRB.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

Sincerely,

IRB Administrator

cc: Susan Metosky

Page 2 of 2

APPENDIX B

FDPP PILOT STUDY IRB APPROVAL



APPROVAL: EXPEDITED REVIEW

Gabriel Shaibi EDSON: Health Promotion and Disease Prevention, Center for 602/496-0909 Gabriel.Shaibi@asu.edu

Dear Gabriel Shaibi:

On 9/26/2021 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title:	Pilot: Preventing Diabetes in Latino Families
Investigator:	Gabriel Shaibi
IRB ID:	STUDY00014551
Category of review:	
Funding:	Name: Arizona State University (ASU)
Grant Title:	
Grant ID:	
Documents Reviewed:	 Family ELSC Pilot Flyer_English.pdf, Category: Recruitment Materials; IRB responses_09262021.pdf, Category: Other; IRB Social Behavioral_pilot_09262021.docx, Category: IRB Protocol; Pilot_ASSENT_ENGLISH_09232021.pdf, Category: Consent Form; PilotParentalConsent_ENGLISH_09232021.pdf, Category: Consent Form;

The IRB approved the protocol from 9/26/2021 to 9/25/2022 inclusive. Three weeks before 9/25/2022 you are to submit a completed Continuing Review application and required attachments to request continuing approval or closure.

Page 1 of 2

If continuing review approval is not granted before the expiration date of 9/25/2022 approval of this protocol expires on that date. When consent is appropriate, you must use final, watermarked versions available under the "Documents" tab in ERA-IRB.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

REMINDER - All in-person interactions with human subjects require the completion of the ASU Daily Health Check by the ASU members prior to the interaction and the use of face coverings by researchers, research teams and research participants during the interaction. These requirements will minimize risk, protect health and support a safe research environment. These requirements apply both on- and off-campus.

The above change is effective as of July 29th 2021 until further notice and replaces all previously published guidance. Thank you for your continued commitment to ensuring a healthy and productive ASU community.

Sincerely,

IRB Administrator

Page 2 of 2

APPENDIX C

INTERVIEW GUIDE-SPANISH QUESTIONS

Institute for Social Science Research (ISSR) Grant "explicación de los procesos familiares que apoyan la prevención de diabetes en familias latinas"

Objetivo principal: Conducir entrevistas detalladas con 30 familias latinas para explicar como el compromiso, autonomía, flexibilidad, y la unión pueden ser integrados a un programa de prevención de la diabetes para realzar el acceso, difusión, y el impacto de la intervención en el sistema familiar.

El enfoque de la pregunta general: ¿Cuántos procesos familiares (compromiso, autonomía, flexibilidad, y unión) pueden ser incorporados en un programa de prevención de la diabetes tipo 2 para mejorar la salud de familias latinas?

introducción del entrevistador/a

- Le vamos a preguntar sobre la participación de su familia en el programa Cada pequeño pasito cuenta, programa para la prevención de la diabetes [Every Little Step Counts (ELSC) Diabetes Prevention Program].
- Usted participo en el Proyecto en el mes de [], 20_ hasta el mes de [], 20_; para un total de __(4-6) meses.
- ¿De los miembros de su hogar a quien considera como parte de su familia?
 De estos, quienes participaron en ELSC

Temas y Preguntas

Compromiso familiar – compromiso: interactuar como familia, con otras familias, con los educadores de salud, y su alrededor para tomar acciones que mejoren la salud del Sistema familiar.

- ¿Como estuvo su familia involucrada con el programa ELSC?
 ¿Qué tipo de cambios hizo su familia? ¿Como pudo su familia hacer esto?
- ¿Qué cambios Podemos hacer al programa para mejorar la salud de toda la familia (especialmente de aquellos que no estuvieron muy involucrados)?
 - o ¿Me puede dar ejemplos?
 - ¿De qué manera(s) su familia trabajo con otras familias o con los educadores de salud?

Unión familiar – Unión: fortalecer los lasos familiares al disminuir el conflicto y dar prioridad a la salud del sistema familiar en torno a un mismo propósito y meta de salud.

- ¿Como cambio su relación familiar al participar con ESLC?
 - 1

- ¿En qué maneras su familia se volvió más fuerte y saludable?
 - ¿Hubo alguna actividad dentro o fuera del programa que acerco más a su familia? Platíqueme más sobre eso.

Autonomía Familiar – Autonomía: Adquirir conocimiento, habilidades, y tener la capacidad para identificar y utilizar recursos para mejorar la salud y reducir el riesgo de diabetes.

- ¿Que aprendió (o practico) tu familia durante el programa?
 - o ¿De qué manera esta habilidad o conocimiento ayudo a tu familia a ser saludable?
 - Platíqueme más sobre eso.
- ¿Como le ha ayudado el programa a cambiar la capacidad que tiene su familia de encontrar y usar recursos en su comunidad para mejorar la salud?
 - Platíqueme más sobre eso.

Flexibilidad Familiar – Flexibilidad: la capacidad del Sistema familiar de resistir y recuperarse de la adversidad para hacerse fuerte, saludable, y más ingeniosos.

- Antes de ELSC, ¿cuáles son unos de los desafíos que su familia enfrento al tratar de ser saludable?
 - (Para el entrevistador, ejemplos incluyen cosas como comer saludable, hacer ejercicio, ver al médico, tomar medicamentos.)
- ¿De qué manera su familia se une para solucionar problemas que afectan a toda la familia?
 ¿Como aplica eso a la salud de su familia?
 - ¿Como se adapta su familia a situaciones o eventos estresantes? ¿De qué manera aplica esto a la prevención de la diabetes?

Cuestionarios

Ahora tenemos preguntas cortas para aprender más acerca de sus pensamientos y sentimientos. Cada adulto en el hogar responderá individualmente. No existe respuesta correcta o incorrecta.

Der 'FA	rived from: ACES-IV" (Olson, 2010)	Completamente en desacuerdo	Generalmente en desacuerdo	Indeciso	Generalmente de Acuerdo	Completamente de acuerdo
		1	2	3	4	5
	Union					
1.	Los miembros de la familia estan involucrados en las vidas de los demas.	o	o	0	o	o
2.	Los miembros de la familia se sienten unidos.	o	o	0	0	о
3.	Los miembros de la familia se apoyan unos a otros durante tiempos dificiles.	o	o	0	0	o
4.	Los miembros de la familia disfrutan compartir su tiempo libre el uno con el otro.	o	o	0	0	o
5.	A pesar de que los miembros de la familia tienen intereses individuales aun participan en actividades familiares.	o	o	0	o	0

De "Pa Soa (Fig	rived from: arent Resource Empowerment ale" gueroa et al., 2020)	Completam de acuero	ente De do acue	e Desad rdo	uerdo Co en	mpletamente desacuerdo	
		1	2	:	3	4	-
	Autonomia (Padres)						
1.	Se que puedo contar con mi familia para que ayude.	0	0		2	0	-
2.	Se como defender o abogar por mis hijos con profesionales.	0	0) (5	0	•
3.	Se como encontrar programas, servicios, u otros recursos en mi comunidad.	0	٥) (>	0	
De	rived from:		Muy raro/	No muy	A	Convido	Casi
(W	alsh Family Resilience Questionnaire" 'alsh, 2015)		Nunca 1	seguido 2	A veces	seguido 4	siemp 5
(W	alsh Family Resilience Questionnaire" (alsh, 2015) Flexibilidad		Nunca 1	seguido 2	A veces	4	siemp 5
(W	alsh Family Resilience Questionnaire" alsh, 2015) Flexibilidad Nuestra familia enfrenta dificultas com es vez de invididualmente.	no equipo,	Núnca 1 O	2 O	3 O	4 O	siemp 5 O
(W 1. 2.	alsh Family Resilience Questionnaire" [alsh, 2015] Flexibilidad Nuestra familia enfrenta dificultas com es vez de invididualmente. Nos animamos los unos a los otros y dependemos en las fortalezas de cad	no equipo,	Núnca 1 O	seguido 2 O	3 0 0	3eguido 4 0	siemp 5 O
(W 1. 2.	alsh Family Resilience Questionnaire" [alsh, 2015] Flexibilidad Nuestra familia enfrenta dificultas com es vez de invididualmente. Nos animamos los unos a los otros y dependemos en las fortalezas de cad Podemos contar con los miembros de familia durante momentos dificiles.	a uno.	Núnca 1 O O	seguido 2 O	3 0 0		5 5 0 0
(W 1. 2. 3.	alsh Family Resilience Questionnaire" [alsh, 2015] Flexibilidad Nuestra familia enfrenta dificultas com es vez de invididualmente. Nos animamos los unos a los otros y dependemos en las fortalezas de cad Podemos contar con los miembros de familia durante momentos dificiles. Podemos contar con el apoyo de nue: amigos y nuestra comunidad.	a uno. e nuestra	Núnca 1 O O O	seguido 2 O O	3 0 0	3eguido 4 0 0	5 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
(/// 1. 2. 3. 4.	alsh Family Resilience Questionnaire" [alsh, 2015] Flexibilidad Nuestra familia enfrenta dificultas com es vez de invididualmente. Nos animamos los unos a los otros y dependemos en las fortalezas de cad Podemos contar con los miembros de familia durante momentos dificiles. Podemos contar con el apoyo de nues amigos y nuestra comunidad. Tenemos aceso a recursos comunitar ayudar a nuestra familia durante mom dificiles.	no equipo, a uno. e nuestra stros ios para ientos	Núnca 1 0 0 0	seguido 2 O O O	3 0 0 0	3eguido 4 0 0 0	siem;

APPENDIX D

INTERVIEW GUIDE-ENGLISH QUESTIONS

Institute for Social Science Research (ISSR) Grant "Explicating Family Processes to Support Diabetes Prevention in Latino Families"

Primary Aim: Conduct in-depth interviews with 30 Latino families to explicate how family engagement, empowerment, resilience, and cohesion, can be integrated into a diabetes prevention curriculum to enhance the reach, diffusion, and impact of the intervention on the family system.

The Overarching Focus Question: "How may family processes (engagement, empowerment, resilience, and cohesion) be incorporated into type 2 diabetes prevention curriculum to improve the health of Latino families?"

Interviewer Introduction

- We will ask about your family's participation in Every Little Step Counts (ELSC) Diabetes Prevention Program.
- You participated in this project in the month of [], 20___ to the month of [], 20___; a total of ___ (4-6) months.
- Who in your household do you consider as part of your family?
 Of these people, who was involved with ELSC?

Themes & Questions

Family Engagement – Engagement: Interacting as a family, with other families, health educators, and the environment to take actions to improve the health of the family system.

- · How was your family involved in the ELSC program?
 - o What type of changes did your family make? How did your family do this?
- What changes can we make to the program to improve the health of the entire family (especially those that were not involved as much)?
 - o Can you give me examples?
 - o In what ways did your family work with other families or the health educators?

Family Cohesion – Cohesion: Strengthening bonds within families by decreasing conflict and prioritizing the health of the family system around a shared purpose and health goal.

- How did participating in ELSC change relationships in your family?
- In what ways did your family become stronger or healthier?
 - 1

 Were there any specific activities in or outside of the program that brought your family closer together? Tell me about this.

Family Empowerment – Empowerment: Acquiring knowledge, skills, and capacity to identify and utilize resources to improve health and reduce diabetes risk.

- · What did your family learn (or practice) during the program?
 - o How did that skill help your family be healthy?
 - Tell me more about this.
- How has the program changed your family's ability to find and use resources in your community to improve health? Tell me more.

Family Resilience – Resilience: The capacity of the family system to withstand and rebound from adversity to become stronger, healthier, and more resourceful.

- Before ELSC, what were some challenges your family faced when trying to be healthy?
 - (For interviewer, examples include things such as healthy eating, exercise, seeing a doctor, getting medications.)
- How does your family come together to address problems that affect the entire family?
 - o How does your family apply this to health?
 - How does your family adapt to stressful events or situations? How could this apply to preventing diabetes?

Questionnaires

Now we have some shorter questions to learn more about your thoughts. Each adult in the household will answer the questions individually. There are no right or wrong answers.

Dei 'FA	rived from: ICES-IV" (Olson, 2010)	Strongly Disagree	Generally Disagree	Undecided	Generally Agree	Strongly Agree
		1	2	3	4	5
	Cohesion					
1.	Family members are involved in each others lives.	0	0	o	0	0
2.	Family members feel very close to each other.	0	0	o	0	0
3.	Family members are supportive of each other during difficult times.	0	0	o	o	0
4.	Family members like to spend some of their free time with each other.	0	0	o	o	o
5.	Although family members have individual interests, they still participate in family activities.	0	0	o	o	0

Dei "Pa (Fig	rived from: arent Resource Empowerment Scale" gueroa et al., 2020)	Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	
		1	2	3	4	
	Empowerment (Parent)					
1.	I know I can get my family to help.	0	0	0	0	
2.	I know how to speak up or advocate for my child with professionals.	o	0	0	0	
3.	I know how to find programs, services, or other resources in my community.	o	0	0	0	
Dei "W	rived from: alsh Family Resilience Questionnaire" alsh, 2015)	Rarely/ Never	Not Often	Sometimes	Often	Almo Alway
		1	2	3	4	5
	Resilience	1	2	3	4	5
1.	Resilience Our family faces difficulties together as a team, rather than individually.	1 0	2	3	4	5
1.	Resilience Our family faces difficulties together as a team, rather than individually. We encourage each other and build on our strengths.	1 0 0	2 0	3 0 0	4 0	5 0
1. 2. 3.	Resilience Our family faces difficulties together as a team, rather than individually. We encourage each other and build on our strengths. We can count on family members to help each other in difficulty.	1 0 0	2 0 0	3 0 0	4 0 0	5 0 0
1. 2. 3.	Resilience Our family faces difficulties together as a team, rather than individually. We encourage each other and build on our strengths. We can count on family members to help each other in difficulty. We can rely on the support of friends and our community.	1 0 0 0	2 0 0	3 0 0 0	4 0 0	5 0 0
1. 2. 3. 5.	Resilience Our family faces difficulties together as a team, rather than individually. We encourage each other and build on our strengths. We can count on family members to help each other in difficulty. We can rely on the support of friends and our community. We can access community resources to help our family through difficult times.	1 0 0 0	2 0 0	3 0 0 0	4 0 0	5 0 0 0
APPENDIX E

SPANISH HOME VISIT PARTICIPANTS SURVEY

	Clase 1: 1 Encuesta Des	⊿a Bienvenida pués De la Visita		
Circula Uno:				
Soy padre, guardián, o	o tengo 17 años o más	Tengo e	ntre 10 a 16 años	
Fecha				
Llena la burbuja que	corresponda con tu respuesta:			
1. ¿La visita de hoy te	e hizo sentir más cómodo con con	enzar el programa?		
Mucho O	Mas o menos O	Un poquito O	No O	
2. Todas mis pregunta	as sobre el programa fueron conte	stadas: (Circula uno)	Si	No
3. El tiempo para la v	isita de hoy estuvo:			
Muy largo O	Bien O	Muy corto O		
4. El maestro/la maes	tra parecía muy apresurado(s)?			
No O	Un poquito O	Si O		
5. El maestro/la maes	tra hizo un buen trabajo escuchan	do a todos en mi familia.		
No O	Un poquito O	Si O		
б. ¿Te prestó atenciór	n el maestro/la maestra cuando ha	blaste?		
No O	Un poquito O	Si O		
7. ¿Qué tan cómodo∕a	te sentiste compartiendo tu opini	ón?		
Muy cómodo/a	Mas o menos cómodo/a O	Un poquito cóm O	odo/a Nada de O	e cómodo/a

Nimes	Cosi mmon	De une en enerde		ui da	
O	O	De vez en cuando O	o Seg	D D	
9. Del 1-10, ¿qué tan in para ser parte del progra	uportante crees que e ama? (Circula el nú:	s que todos los miembros de tu mero que corresponda con tu	a familia estén p 1 respuesta)	resentes en la visita	a
01	23	456	7	-89	
o importante		Mas o menos importante		Muy im	portante
 Qué cambiarías de l 	a visita para que fue	ra mejor para ti y tu familia:			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fuer	a mejor para ti y tu familia:			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	ra mejor para ti y tu familia:			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fuer	ra mejor para ti y tu familia:			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	ra mejor para ti y tu familia:			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	a mejor para ti y tu familia: Gracias por compartir!			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	a mejor para ti y tu familia: Gracias por compartir!			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	a mejor para ti y tu familia: ;Gracias por compartir!			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	a mejor para ti y tu familia: ;Gracias por compartir!			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	a mejor para ti y tu familia: Gracias por compartir!			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	a mejor para ti y tu familia: Gracias por compartir!			
11. Qué cambiarías de l	a visita para que fue	a mejor para ti y tu familia:			

APPENDIX F

ENGLISH HOME VISIT PARTICIPANTS SURVEY

Circle One:			
I am a parent, guardian	, or 17 years old or older	I am between 10 to 16 ye	ars old
Date			
Fill in the bubble to an	wer each question.		
 Did the home visit m 	ake you feel more comfortable a	bout starting the program?	
A lot of O	Somewhat O	A little O	No O
2. All my questions abo	out the program were answered: (Circle One)	Zes No
3. The home visit time	was:		
Too long O	Just right O	Too short O	
4. Did the teacher seem	rushed?		
N₀ O	A little O	Yes O	
5. The teacher did a go	od job of listening to everyone in	my family.	
No	A little	Yes	
0	0	0	
6. Did the teacher pay a	attention to you when you spoke?		
No O	A little O	Yes O	
7. How comfortable did	l you feel sharing your opinion?		
Very comfortable O	Somewhat comfortable O	A little comfortat O	ole Not comfortable O
	Please complete	the other side \rightarrow	

	Clas: F	s 1: Home Visit Post Survey		
8. How often did you p	ay attention?			
Never O	Rarely O	Occasionally O	Often O	
9. On a scale of 1-10, 1 part of the program?	ow important do you think i	t is for all your family membe	ers to be at the home visit to	o be
01 Not important	234 Son	567 newhat important	899 Very	-10 important
10. In your opinion wh	at was the main point of the	home visit?		
11. What would you cl	ange about the home visit to	make it better for you and yo	our family:	
	Theorem			
	1 nans	you for sharing:		

APPENDIX G

FACILITATOR EVALUATION FORM-HOME VISIT

Facilitator Evaluation Form Home Visit				
Facilit	ator Name Date			
Answe	er the following questions about the home visit:			
l. Whi	ch family members were present in the home? (Check all that apply)			
	□ Participant (s) If more than one, how many? (write numerical value)			
	D Mother			
	Father			
	□ Sister, how many?			
	Brother, how many?			
	Grandmother Grand Adden			
	n Aunt			
	D Others (specify helow):			
	L Others (specify delow).			
	 Nother Father Sister, how many? Brother, how many? Grandmother Grandfather Aunt Uncle Cousin, Others (specify below): 			
	e any family members not home during the home visit?			
. Wer	Yes No			
3. Wer				
3. Wer	3a. If yes, who was not home?			
3. Wen	3a. If yes, who was not home?			

All	the time	Most of the time	Little of the time	None of the time
	0	0	0	0
5. Which ac	tivities did <u>NOT</u> e	engage the entire families?	(Write activity names)	
_				
5a.	Which family mer	nbers were not engaged an	d how did you know?	
_				
6 Were na	rts of the home vis	sit difficult to facilitate or u	unclear in the curriculum? (Circle one)
o. neiepa				
Ye	5	No		
Yes Yes	s If yes, which ones	No and what could have made	e them easier to facilitate?	
Yes 6a.1	s If yes, which ones	No and what could have made	e them easier to facilitate?	
С. К.С.Р. Үе: ба. 	s If yes, which ones	No and what could have made	e them easier to facilitate?	
Уе: ба. 	s If yes, which ones	No and what could have made	e them easier to facilitate?	
Ye: 6a. 7. Did you l	s If yes, which ones have enough time	No and what could have made to deliver the home visit as	e them easier to facilitate?	n? (Circle one)
Yes 6a. 7. Did you l Yes	s If yes, which ones have enough time t	No and what could have made to deliver the home visit as No	e them easier to facilitate?	n? (Circle one)
7. Did you l Ye: 	s If yes, which ones have enough time s s If no, what factors e?	No and what could have made to deliver the home visit as No s contributed to this, and do	e them easier to facilitate? structured in the curriculur	n? (Circle one) ations to allow for enoug
7. Did you l Yes 7. Did you l Yes 7a. tim	s If yes, which ones have enough time s s If no, what factors e?	No and what could have made to deliver the home visit as No contributed to this, and do	e them easier to facilitate?	n? (Circle one) ations to allow for enoug
7. Did you l 7. Did you l Ye: 7a. tim	s If yes, which ones have enough time s s If no, what factors e?	No and what could have made to deliver the home visit as No contributed to this, and do	e them easier to facilitate? structured in the curriculur you have any recommenda	n? (Circle one) ations to allow for enoug
7. Did you l Yes 7. Did you l Yes 7a. tim	s If yes, which ones have enough time s s If no, what factors e?	No and what could have made to deliver the home visit as No contributed to this, and do	e them easier to facilitate? structured in the curriculur you have any recommenda	n? (Circle one) ations to allow for enoug

Γ

	Yes	No
	8a. If yes, what w	as missing?
9. Wh	at would you chang	ge to help improve the home visit?
		I nank you for your feedback!

APPENDIX H

OBSERVER EVALUATION FORM-HOME VISIT

Observer Class Evaluation Form Home Visit

Observer Name		Date		
Facilitator NameSt	art Time:	Time:End Time:		
*OBSERVER: Please review the home visit cur home visit and fill in the Ac	rriculum and ctivity/Discus	this evaluation fo sion names.	or m before t	
Circle whether the facilitator completed the	following and	answer the ques	tions below:	
Welcome/Introduction				
Did the nutrition facilitator introduce herself/hims	elf?	Yes	No	
Did the exercise instructor introduce herself/himse	elf?	Yes	No	
Did every family member present in the home intr themselves?	roduce	Yes	No	
If not, why?		•		
A ativity/Discussions				
(Write activity or discussion name)				
Use this space to write any quotes participants stat engagement or lack of engagement:	te throughout t	this activity that re	flect	
Did the facilitates availed at a instantion for the	in antinity?	V	NI-	
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for th	this activity?	Tes	INO	
I had the termilies demonstrate or readents in the	THIS SCHULV/	Yes	AT-	
Did the families demonstrate an understanding of	in monther to	Ver	No	
Did the families demonstrate an understanding of Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for fami ask questions?	ly members to	Yes	No No	

Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the	Yes	No
Did every family member participate in this activity?	Ves	No
Circle ves or no for the following statements, this activity was:	103	140
Culturally appropriate	Yes	No
Eccused on the family	Ves	No
Too long	Ves	No
Too long Too short	Vec	No
Too short Too dideetie	Vec	No
100 didactic The facilitates uses will account to deliver this discussion (activity)	Tes	No
The facilitator was well prepared to deliver this discussion/activity	Ies	INO
Did the facilitators review the surgest of the home visit with the	Vec	No
and the facturators review the purpose of the nome visit with the	165	140
Use this space to write any quotes barticidants state in outshout the a	cuvity mat fer	lect
engagement or lack of engagement:	civity that fer	lect
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the	Yes Yes	No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to	Yes Yes Yes	No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions?	Yes Yes Yes	No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity?	Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity?	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or <i>no</i> for the following statements, this activity was:	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to usk questions? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity was: • Culturally appropriate	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to isk questions? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did the family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity was: Culturally appropriate Focused on the family	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did the family member participate in this activity/discussion? Did the family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity was: • Culturally appropriate • Focused on the family • Too long	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity was: Culturally appropriate Focused on the family Too long Too short	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity was: Culturally appropriate Focused on the family Too long Too short Too didactic	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No No No No No No

- A 61				100	11.0	C1 (0	
	uvi	LY/	1	ISC	us	aru	ш.
			_				

(Write activity or discussion name)

Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the activity that reflect engagement or lack of engagement:

Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity?	Yes	No
Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions?	Yes	No
Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family?	Yes	No
Did every family member participate in this activity?	Yes	No
Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity?	Yes	No
Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity was:		
 Culturally appropriate 	Yes	No
 Focused on the family 	Yes	No
 Too long 	Yes	No
 Too short 	Yes	No
Too didactic	Yes	No
The facilitator was well prepared to deliver this discussion/activity	Yes	No
Summary and Closing		
Did the facilitator review the homework?	Yes	No
Did the facilitator provide closure to the home visit?	Yes	No
Did the facilitator distribute the home visit evaluation forms to all in the home over the age of 10?	Yes	No

Please complete the other side \rightarrow

Is there anything you would	l change about the home visit?
-----------------------------	--------------------------------

APPENDIX I

SPANISH POST CLASS PARTICIPANT SURVEY

Numero d	le la Clase:			Fecha:			
Circula U	no: Soy pao	lre, guardián, o tengo	17 años o más	5	Tengo e	entre 10 a	16 años
¿A qué ho	ora es tu clase de nut	rición? (Circula uno)	5:30 PM	6:30 PN	1		
Circula el	número en la escala q	ue corresponda con ti	ı respuesta:				
1. En una	escala del 1 a 10, ¿què	é tan divertida estuvo l	a clase de nut	rición hoy?			
0	-12	35 мэ	6	7	8	9	10 Muy divertid:
2 En 1112	accala dal 1 a 10 ; ona	a tan divertida estuvo l	a clasa da ajar	reicio hov?			
2. En una	escala del 1 a 10, 640	e tali divertida estuvo i	a clase de ejei	icicio noy?			
0 Aburrida	-12	35- М:	6 as o menos	7	8	9	10 Muy divertid:
3. En una	escala del 1 a 10, ¿le 1	ecomendarías esta cla	se a un amigo	/a?			
0	1 2			7	0	0	10
0	-1222	99- Prob	bablemente	/	ð	ÿ	Definitivament
Llena la b	urbuja que correspon	da con tu respuesta:					
4. ¿Crees (que los temas mencior	nados en la clase de nu	ttrición de hoy	y podrían ayu	darte a ti	y a tu fan	ulia a estar
No O	Quizás O	Si, un poquito O		Si, mucho O			
5. ¿Parecía	a la maestra de nutrici	ón apresurada a cubrir	el material de	e la clase?			
N₀ O	Un poquito O		Si O				

O	Bien O	Muy largo O	
7. ¿Te prestó atenció	ón el maestro/la maestra cuan	do hablaste durante la clase?	
No O	Un poquito O	Si	
8. ¿Qué tan cómodo	/a te sentiste compartiendo tu	opinión durante la clase?	
Muy cómodo/a O	Mas o menos cómodo O	/a Un poquito cómodo/a O	Nada de cómodo/a O
9. ¿Con qué frecuen	cia prestaste atención durante	la clase?	
Nunca	Casi nunca	De vez en cuando Se	eguido
11. En tu opinión, ¿	cuál fue el tema principal de l	a clase de nutrición?	
	de la clase de nutrición para o	pue fuera mejor para ti y tu familia:	
12. Qué cambiarías			
12. Qué cambiarías			
12. Qué cambiarías			
12. Qué cambiarías	de la clase de ejercicio para q	ue fuera mejor para ti y tu familia:	

APPENDIX J

ENGLISH POST CLASS PARTICIPANT SURVEY

Class Numbe	er:						Date:			
Circle One:	I am a pai	rent, guar	dian, or 1'	7 years	old or older		I am betw	veen 10 to	16 years	old
What time is	your nut	rition cla	ss? (Circ	le one)) 5:30	PM	6:30 PM			
Circle the nu	mber on t	he scale tl	hat reflect	ts your	answer:					
1. On a scale	of 1 to 10	, how fun	was toda	y's nut	rition class?					
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Boring					Average					Very fun
2. On a scale	of 1 to 10	, how fun	was toda	y's exe	rcise class?					
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Boring					Average					Very fun
3. On a scale	of 1 to 10,	, would y	ou recom	mend ti	his class to a	friend?	7	8		
3. On a scale 0 finitely not Fill in the bul	of 1 to 10, 1	, would y 2 swer the q	ou recom 3 question:	mend ti 4	his class to a 5 Probably	friend? 6	7	8	9	10 Definitely
3. On a scale 0 finitely not Fill in the bul 4. Do you fee	of 1 to 10, 1 bble to ans	, would y 2 swer the q topics disc	ou recomi 3 question: cussed in	mend ti 4 today'a	his class to a 5 Probably s nutrition cla	friend? 6 ass could l	7 nelp you an	8 d your fan	9 nily be he	10 Definitely althy?
3. On a scale 0 finitely not Fill in the bul 4. Do you fee No O	of 1 to 10, 1 bble to and el that the t Maybe O	, would y 2 swer the q topics disc	ou recomi 3 question: cussed in Yes	mend ti 4 today': s, a littl O	his class to a 5 Probably s nutrition cla e	friend? 6 ass could l Ye	nelp you an oo oo	8 d your fan	nily be he	10 Definitely althy?
 On a scale O O O Fill in the bul Do you fee No O Did the nut 	of 1 to 10, 1 bble to ans el that the t Maybe O trition teac	, would y 2 swer the q topics disc	ou recomm 3 puestion: cussed in Yes	mend ti today's a little o cover	his class to a 5 Probably s nutrition cla e the class mat	friend? 6 ass could l Yo terial?	nelp you an es, a lot O	8 d your fan	nily be he	10 Definitely althy?
3. On a scale 0 finitely not Fill in the bul 4. Do you fee No O 5. Did the nut No O	of 1 to 10, 1 bble to ans el that the t Maybe O trition teac	, would y 2 swer the q topics disc	ou recomm 3 question: cussed in Yes rushed to A little O	mend ti 4 today': s, a little O	his class to a 5 Probably s nutrition cla e the class mat	friend? 6 ass could l Y terial? Yes O	ielp you an es, a lot O	8 d your fan	nily be he	10 Definitely althy?
 On a scale O O O Fill in the bul Do you fee No Did the mut No O Did the mut O O Today's mut 	of 1 to 10, 1 bble to and el that the t Maybe O trition teac	, would y 2 swer the q topics disc cher seem	ou recomi 3 question: cussed in Yes rushed to A little O	mend ti 4 today': s, a littl O	his class to a 5 Probably s nutrition cla e the class mat	friend? 6 ass could 1 Yo terial? Yes O	nelp you an es, a lot O	8 d your fan	nily be he	10 Definitely althy?
 On a scale O O O Fill in the bul Do you fee No Did the mut No O Did the mut O O Today's mut O 	of 1 to 10, 1 bble to ans el that the t Maybe O trition teac	, would y 2 swer the q topics disc cher seem uss time w Just ri O	ou recomm 3 puestion: cussed in Yes rushed to A little O vas: ght	mend ti today's a little o cover	his class to a Probably s nutrition cla e the class mat	friend? 6 ass could l Yo terial? Yes O	nelp you an es, a lot O	8 d your fan	nily be he	10 Definitely althy?

7. Dia die teacher pay a	ttention to you when you spoke i	n class?	
N₀ O	A little O	Yes O	
8. How comfortable did	you feel sharing your opinion du	ring class?	
Very comfortable O	Somewhat comfortable O	A little comfortable O	Not comfortable O
9. How often did you pa	y attention during class?		
Never O	Rarely O	Occasionally O	Often O
10. What rating would y	you give your teacher for today's	class?	
01 acher needs sore training	234 Teacher w	57677 vas average	-8910 Best teache ever!
Write a short answer. 11. In your opinion wha	t was the main point of the nutrit	ion class?	
12. What would you cha	ange about the nutrition class to n	nake it better for you and your	family:
12. What would you cha	ange about the nutrition class to r	nake it better for you and you	family:
 What would you change What would you change 	ange about the nutrition class to r	nake it better for you and your	family:
12. What would you cha	ange about the nutrition class to r	nake it better for you and your	family:

APPENDIX K

FACILITATOR CLASS EVALUATION FORM

Date		Facilitator ID		_
Class Name				_
Facility Location	1			
Answer the follo	wing questions about the	class:		
1. Was the facilit	y adequately prepared for to	day's class delivery? (Circl	le One)	
Yes	No			
1a. If no,	in what ways could the fac	lity have been better prepar	ed?	
2. How often did	<u>ALL</u> the family members p	articipate in the class? (Fill	in the bubble with your an	Iswer
2. How often did All the time	<u>ALL</u> the family members p Most of the time	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time	in the bubble with your an None of the time	Iswer
2. How often did All the time O	<u>ALL</u> the family members p Most of the time O	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time O	in the bubble with your an None of the time O	Iswer
2. How often did All the time O 3. Were parts of t	<u>ALL</u> the family members p Most of the time O he class difficult to facilitat	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time O e or unclear in the curriculu	in the bubble with your an None of the time O m? (Circle one)	Iswer
2. How often did All the time O 3. Were parts of t Yes	<u>ALL</u> the family members p Most of the time O he class difficult to facilitat No	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time O e or unclear in the curriculu	in the bubble with your an None of the time O m? (Circle one)	ıswer
2. How often did All the time O 3. Were parts of t Yes 3a. If yes	<u>ALL</u> the family members p Most of the time O he class difficult to facilitat No	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time O e or unclear in the curriculu d have made them easier to :	in the bubble with your an None of the time O m? (Circle one) facilitate?	ıswer
2. How often did All the time O 3. Were parts of t Yes 3a. If yes	<u>ALL</u> the family members p Most of the time O he class difficult to facilitat No , which ones and what coul	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time O e or unclear in the curriculu d have made them easier to :	in the bubble with your an None of the time O m? (Circle one) facilitate?	ıswer
2. How often did All the time O 3. Were parts of t Yes 3a. If yes	ALL the family members p Most of the time O he class difficult to facilitat No , which ones and what coul	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time O e or unclear in the curriculus d have made them easier to a	in the bubble with your an None of the time O m? (Circle one) facilitate?	Iswer
2. How often did All the time O 3. Were parts of t Yes 3a. If yes	ALL the family members p Most of the time O he class difficult to facilitat No , which ones and what coul	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time O e or unclear in the curriculu d have made them easier to :	in the bubble with your an None of the time O m? (Circle one) facilitate?	Iswer
2. How often did All the time O 3. Were parts of t Yes 3a. If yes	ALL the family members p Most of the time O he class difficult to facilitat No , which ones and what coul	articipate in the class? (Fill Little of the time O e or unclear in the curriculu d have made them easier to :	in the bubble with your an None of the time O m? (Circle one) facilitate?	ISWel

4. Did you have enough time to deliver the class as structured in the curriculum? (Circle one) Yes No 4a. If no, what factors contributed to this and do you have any recommendations to allow for enoug time?
Yes No 4a. If no, what factors contributed to this and do you have any recommendations to allow for enoug time? 5. Was there any information missing from the curriculum or were there missing materials to be able to deli the class effectively? (Circle One) Yes No 5a. If yes, what was missing? 6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class. Thank you for your feedback!
4a. If no, what factors contributed to this and do you have any recommendations to allow for enoug time? 5. Was there any information missing from the curriculum or were there missing materials to be able to deli the class effectively? (Circle One) Yes No 5a. If yes, what was missing? 6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class. Thank you for your feedback!
5. Was there any information missing from the curriculum or were there missing materials to be able to deli the class effectively? (Circle One) Yes No 5a. If yes, what was missing? 6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class. Thank you for your feedback!
S. Was there any information missing from the curriculum or were there missing materials to be able to delive class effectively? (Circle One) Yes No Sa. If yes, what was missing? 6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class. Thank you for your feedback!
Yes No 5a. If yes, what was missing?
5a. If yes, what was missing? 6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class.
6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class.
6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class.
6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class.
6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class.
6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class.
6. Please add any other comments or suggestions that you feel may help improve the class.
Thank you for your feedback!

APPENDIX L

OBSERVER CLASS EVALUATION FORM

Observer Class Evaluation Form

		_	
Ob	0.000	n Mar	-
U US	serve	r inai	ne

Facilitator Name_____

Class Name:

Г

Class Start Time: _____ Class End Time: _____

*OBSERVER: Please review the nutrition curriculum and this class and fill in the Activity/Discussion names. The number of a class varies.	s evaluation f ctivities/discu	orm prior to ssions in each
Circle whether the facilitator completed the following and any	swer the ques	tions below:
Welcome/Introduction		
Did the facilitator(s) introduce herself/himself?	Yes	No

Class Objectives		
Did the facilitators review the purpose of today's class with the families?	Yes	No

Activity/Discussion:

(Write activity or discussion name)

Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout this activity that reflect engagement or lack of engagement:

1

Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this	Yes	No
activity/discussion?		
Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this	Yes	No
activity/discussion?	Ver	N
Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to	Yes	No
ask questions?		
Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the	Yes	No
family?		
Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion?	Yes	No
Circle yes or no for the following statements, this		
activity/discussion was:		
 Culturally appropriate 	Yes	No
 Focused on the family 	Yes	No
Too long	Yes	No
Too short	Yes	No
Too didactic	Yes	No
The facilitator was well prepared to deliver this discussion/activity	Yes	No
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
(Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement: Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this	ctivity that ref	lect
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement: Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion?	ctivity that ref	lect No
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement: Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion?	ctivity that ref Yes Yes	lect No No
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement: Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion?	Ctivity that ref	lect No No
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement: Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to activity/discussion?	Ctivity that ref	lect No No No
Write activity or discussion name) Use this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the a engagement or lack of engagement: Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions?	Yes Yes Yes Yes	lect No No No

Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion?	Yes	No
Circle yes or no for the following statements, this		
activity/discussion was:		
Culturally appropriate	Yes	No
 Focused on the family 	Yes	No
Too long	Yes	No
Too short	Yes	No
Too didactic	Yes	No
The facilitator was well prepared to deliver this discussion/activity	Yes	No
Jse this space to write any quotes participants state throughout the angagement or lack of engagement:	ctivity that ref	lect
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this	Yes	No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion?	Yes Yes	No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions?	Yes Yes Yes	No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family?	Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the amily? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion?	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity/discussion was:	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity/discussion was: • Culturally appropriate	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity/discussion was: Culturally appropriate Focused on the family	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity/discussion was: Culturally appropriate Focused on the family Too long	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity/discussion was: • Culturally appropriate • Focused on the family • Too long • Too short	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No No No No
Did the facilitator provide clear instructions for this activity/discussion? Did the families demonstrate an understanding of this activity/discussion? Did the facilitator provide an opportunity for family members to ask questions? Was the facilitator able to establish rapport with everyone in the family? Did every family member participate in this activity/discussion? Circle yes or no for the following statements, this activity/discussion was: Culturally appropriate Focused on the family Too long Too short Too didactic	Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	No No No No No No No No No No

Class Wrap-Up		
Did the facilitator review the homework?	Yes	No
Did the facilitator provide closure to the class?	Yes	No
Did the facilitator distribute the class evaluation forms to all	Yes	No
participants over the age of 10?		

Is there anything you would change about the class?

APPENDIX M

SPANISH FOCUS GROUP GUIDE

Every Little Step Counts (ELSC)

In-Depth Focus Group Guide - Spanish

Nuestro grupo de enfoque tiene tres objetivos:

- <u>Entender como la familia Latina percibe el programa de prevención de diabetes adaptado</u> para familias latinas.
- (2) Aprender acerca de las experiencias de la participación de cada miembro de la familia en el programa.
- (3) Explorar obstaculos que miembros de la familia encontraron para poder participar en el programa.

INTERVIEWER: _____ DATE: _____ LOCATION: _____

Bienvenidos! Gracias por su participacion en este grupo de enfoque. Mi nombre es (*Focus group facilitator name*) y trabajo en Arizona State University. Por favor vea este grupo como una conversación. Estamos organizando este grupo de enfoque porque estamos interesados en aprender más acerca de sus experiencias en el programa, Cada Pasito Cuenta con el enfoque en la familia, y cómo podemos mejorarlo para que todos los miembros de la familia puedan participar. No hay respuestas correctas o incorrectas. Lo que piensen y crean es importante para nosotros. Sus experiencias, preocupaciones y emociones también son importantes para nosotros. Por favor, siéntase libre de hablar abiertamente y decir lo que cree. Su honestidad nos ayudará a comprender su experiencia durante su tiempo en el programa.

Recuerde que su participación en el grupo de enfoque de hoy es voluntaria. Puede terminar esta conversación en cualquier momento sin ninguna penalidad. Nuestra conversación grupal durará entre 45 minutos y una hora. Al final de nuestra conversación, se le pedirá que complete una breve encuesta. Al final de esta encuesta, recibirá \$50 por su participación. ¿Alguien tiene preguntas acerca de la compensación?

Antes de comenzar, me gustaría repasar algunas reglas:

- Solo una persona puede hablar a la vez. Eso significa que tendrían que esperar su turno o levantar la mano para hablar si uno de sus compañeros(as) esta hablando.
- Como parte de la confidencialidad, lo que compartimos en este espacio, permanecera en este espacio, y solo usaremos un pseudo nombre (por ejemplo, Participante 1) para propositos de la investigación.
- Es importante para nosotros escuchar las experiencias, ideas y opiniones de todos. No hay respuestas correctas o incorrectas a nuestras preguntas; sus ideas, experiencias y opiniones son importantes.
- Este es un espacio que resalta el respeto por los demás. Valoramos y estamos interesados en escuchar tanto lo positivo como lo negativo de su experiencia con el programa de Cada Pasito Cuenta.

Estamos grabando esta conversación para estar seguros de que no nos estamos perdiendo la información que estan compartiendo. La grabacion de audio se destruirá después de que se complete la transcripción escrita palabra por palabra (generalmente dentro de los seis meses). Lo que compartimos en esta sala es solo para fines de investigación. Además, solo yo, los miembros del equipo y los investigadores involucrados en este proyecto escucharemos este audio. No se vincularán nombres a sus conversaciones ni a ninguno de sus comentarios. Esta información se utilizará únicamente para nuestros fines de investigación y nos ayudará a mejorar el programa Cada Pasito Cuenta.

Para asegurarnos de que cada uno de ustedes tengan la oportunidad de hablar y participar, podemos llamarlo por su pseudo nombre para que pueda participar y compartir sus pensamientos o experiencias con el grupo.

Gracias, de nuevo, por estar aquí. Agradecemos su tiempo y cooperación. ¡Empecemos!

Ice Breaker/Rompe-hielo

[The objective of this activity is to do something as a group to build rapport]

[Once all participants have arrived the session will begin]

Moderator: "Empecemos yendo alrededor del salón para conocernos mejor."

[Moderator will lead introductions and build rapport with participants using any questions below]

For example:

1. "Por favor, díganos un poco acerca de usted."

(If a participant does not know what to say or only says one thing, then use questions below)

- (a) ¿Cuál es su nombre?
- (b) Solo padres: ¿A qué se dedicas usted, en que trabaja?
- (c) Solo jóvenes: ¿A dónde vas a la escuela?
- (d) ¿De dónde es usted?

Focus Group Questions

[Icebreaker is now complete and everybody knows a little bit about each other. The moderator will now transition from the discussion-starter question to more specific questions and follow-up probing questions to learn about their experiences in the ELSC.]

SECTION 1: Experiences in the Family-Focused ELSC

[Participant Question #1]

Moderator: "Por favor, dígame, ¿cuál fue su parte favorita del programa Cada Pasito Cuenta enfocado en la familia?"

[Wait for 3 or 5 seconds, if no one answers, then ask for Volunteers]

[Could use the following prompts]:

- ¿Qué es lo que más recuerda de las clases?
- ¿Qué le llamó más la atención?
 What activities did you like the most?
- ¿Qué actividades le gustaron más?

To have participants elaborate more information, say the following:

[Por favor, deme ejemplos]

[Cuénteme más acerca de eso]

SECTION 2: Perceptions of the Family-Focused ELSC

[Participant Question #2]

Moderator: "¿De que maneras involucró el programa a su familia?"

[Could use the following prompts]:

- ¿Qué actividades incluyeron a su familia??
- ¿Hubo alguien en su familia [que vive con usted] que no estuvo involucrado en el programa?
- ¿Qué recomendaciones tiene para que el programa involucre a su familia?

[Note to moderator: Family, defined as, all family members living in the household]

To have participants elaborate more information, say the following:

[Por favor, deme ejemplos]

[Cuénteme más acerca de eso]

[Participant Question #3]

Moderator: "¿Cómo involucró el programa la cultura y los valores de su familia?"

[Could use the following prompts]:

- ¿Qué actividades estaban relacionadas con la cultura de su familia?
- ¿Qué recomienda para que las actividades se relacionen mejor con la cultura de su familia?

To have participants elaborate more information, say the following:

[Por favor, deme ejemplos]

[Cuénteme más acerca de eso]

[Participant Question #4]

Moderator: "¿Qué cambiaría de las clases para mejorarlas?"

[Could use the following prompts]:

- ¿Qué cambiaría de la ubicación?
- ¿Qué cambiaría de la duración de las clases?
- ¿Y del día que se imparten las clases?

- ¿Qué tal el horario de las clases?
- ¿Qué cosas cambiaría de las actividades?
- ¿Qué actividades no fueron útiles?
- ¿Qué actividades podrían otras familias no disfrutar?

To have participants elaborate more information, say the following:

[Por favor, deme ejemplos]

[Cuénteme más acerca de eso]

SECTION 3: Exploring Barriers to Program Participation

Some family members might not be able to attend classes for various reasons.

[Participant Question #5]

Moderator: "Para los miembros de su familia que viven en su hogar, ¿cuáles fueron algunas de las razones por las que no asistieron al programa?"

[Could use the following prompts]

- a. Digame acerca de los miembros de su familia que no pudieron asistir a las clases.
 - i. ¿Por qué no pudieron asistir?
 - Para los miembros de la familia que asistieron, ¿cuáles fueron algunas de las razones?

To have participants elaborate more information, say the following:

[Por favor, deme ejemplos]

[Digame, ¿qué quiere decir con eso?]

- b. ¿Cuáles fueron algunos de los obstaculo que enfrentaron los miembros de su familia?
- c. ¿De qué manera podría cambiar el programa para que los miembros de su familia puedan asistir?

SECTION 4: Closing Statements

[Participant Question #7] Moderator: "¿Hay algo más que le gustaría compartir con nosotros que no le hayamos preguntado? "

Moderator: "Gracias a todos por compartir sus experiencias. Hemos terminado nuestra conversación y procederemos con la breve encuesta. Un miembro de nuestro equipo le entregará

su encuesta. Una vez que termine, se lo devolverá al miembro del equipo y le entregará sus \$50. Después de eso, se puede retirar del salon.

¡Gracias por su tiempo y participación!"
APPENDIX N

ENGLISH FOCUS GROUP GUIDE

Every Little Step Counts (ELSC)

In-Depth Focus Group Guide

Our focus group has three goals:

- To understand how the Latino family unit perceives the adapted diabetes prevention program for Latino families.
- (2) To learn about the experiences of each family member's participation in the program.
- (3) To explore barriers family members experience in order to participate in the program.

INTERVIEWER: DATE: LOCATION:

Welcome! Thank you for agreeing to participate in this focus group. My name is (*Focus group facilitator name*) and I work at Arizona State University. Please think of this as a conversation. We are hosting this focus group because we are interested in learning more about your experiences in the family-focused Every Little Step Counts program and how we can improve the program so all family members can participate. There are no right or wrong answers. What you think and believe is important to us. Your experiences, concerns, and emotions are also important to us. Please, feel free to speak openly and say what you believe. Your honesty will help us understand your experience during your time in the program.

Please remember that your participation in today's focus group is voluntary. You may end this conversation at any time without penalty to you. Our group conversation will last 45 minutes to one hour. At the end of our conversation, you will be asked to fill out a brief survey. At the end of this survey, you will be given \$50 for your participation. Does anybody have questions regarding the compensation?

Before we get started I would like to go over a few housekeeping rules.

- Only one person can talk at a time. That means the remaining youth/parents would need to wait for their turn or raise their hands to speak.
- As part of confidentiality, what we share in this room, stays in this room, and we will only use a pretend name (For example, Participant 1) for research purposes.
- It is important for us to hear everyone's experiences, ideas, and opinions. There are no
 right or wrong answers to our questions your ideas, experiences, and opinions are
 important to us.
- This is a space that highlights respect for others. We value and are interested in hearing both the positive and the negative of your experience with the ELSC program.

We are recording this audio conversation so that we can be sure we are not missing any of the information that you share. The audiotape for the sessions will be destroyed after the word-by-word written transcription is complete (usually within six months). What we share in this room is for research purposes only. In addition, only I, team members, and the researchers involved in this project will listen to this audio. No names will be linked to your conversations or any of your

comments. This information will be used only for our research purposes and ultimately, will help us improve the Every Little Step Counts program.

To make sure each of you gets the chance to talk and participate, we may call you by a pseudo name so that you can participate and share your thoughts or experiences with the group.

Thanks, again, for being here. We appreciate your time and cooperation. Let's get started!

Ice Breaker

[The objective of this activity is to do something as a group to build rapport]

[Once all participants have arrived the session will begin]

Moderator: "Let's start by going around the room and introducing ourselves."

[Moderator will lead introductions and build rapport with participants using any questions below]

For example:

1. "Please, introduce yourself"

(If a participant does not know what to say or only says one thing, then use questions below)

- (a) What is your name?
- (b) Parent only: What do you do for a living?
- (c) Youth only: Where do you go to school?
- (d) Where are you from?

Focus Group Questions

[Icebreaker is now complete and everybody knows a little bit about each other. The moderator will now transition from the discussion-starter question to more specific questions and follow-up probing questions to learn about their experiences in the ELSC.]

SECTION 1: Experiences in the Family-Focused ELSC

[Participant Question #1]

Moderator: "Please tell me, what was your favorite part of the family-focused Every Little Step Counts?"

[Wait for 3 or 5 seconds, if no one answers, then ask for Volunteers]

[Could use the following prompts]:

- · What do you remember most about the classes?
- What caught your attention the most?
- What activities did you like the most?
- What part of the program did you enjoy most?

To have participants elaborate more information, say the following:

[Please, give me examples]

- How about the timing of the classes?
- What things would you change about the activities?
- What activities weren't helpful?
- What activities might other families not enjoy?

To have participants elaborate more information, say the following:

[Please, give me examples]

[Tell me more about that]

SECTION 3: Exploring Barriers to Program Participation

Some family members might not be able to attend classes for various reasons.

[Participant Question #5]

Moderator: "For your family members living in your home, what were some of the reasons they did not attend the program?"

[Could use the following prompts]

- a. Tell me about your family members who were not able to attend the classes?
 - i. Why were they unable to attend?

 For the family members that attended, what were some of the reasons? To have participants elaborate more information, say the following:

[Please, give me examples]

[Tell me, what do you mean by that?]

- b. What were some of the barriers that your family members faced?
- c. In what ways could the program be changed to help your family members attend?

SECTION 4: Closing Statements

[Participant Question #7] Moderator: "Is there anything else you would like to share with us that we may have not asked you?"

Moderator: "Thank you all for sharing your experiences. We have now finished our conversation and will proceed with the short survey. A staff member will hand you your survey. Once you finish, you will return it to the staff member and they will hand you your \$50. After that, please feel free to leave the class."

Thank you again for your time and participation!